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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the “Canyy’ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as ti@pérating Partnership,” the Compasycommon stock .
“Common Stock,” the Company’s preferred stock asefftred Stock,” the Operating Partnership’s comnpamtnership interests as “Common Unitshe Operatin
Partnership’s preferred partnership interests asféred Units” and irservice properties (excluding rental residentiaits)rto which the Company and/or the Opere
Partnership have title and 100.0% ownership rigistshe “Wholly Owned PropertiesThe partnership agreement provides that the Oper&artnership will assume and
when due, or reimburse the Company for paymenalbfosts and expenses relating to the ownershipogerations of, or for the benefit of, the OpematPartnership. Tl
partnership agreement further provides that aleesps of the Company are deemed to be incurrétiddyenefit of the Operating Partnership.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share andhpee smounts)

June 30, December 31,
2009 2008
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land $ 349,38 $ 352,87:
Buildings and tenant improvemer 2,808,83 2,819,84.
Development in proces 67,56 61,93¢
Land held for development 99,23 98,94¢
3,325,01! 3,333,601
Less-accumulated depreciation (743,75 (714,229
Net real estate assets 2,581,26: 2,619,371
For-sale residential condominiums 19,66( 24,28¢
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 1,24¢ 1,242
Cash and cash equivalel 13,37 13,757
Restricted cas 14,707 2,25¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,836 $h@81, respectivel 18,05( 23,681
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $418 and $dé&spectively 3,33( 3,602
Accrued straight-line rents receivable, net ofwhace of $1,903 and $2,082,
respectively 81,76¢ 79,97¢
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 66,63: 67,72%
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $50,752
and $52,586, respective 70,05¢ 73,21¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets 36,68: 37,04¢
Total Assets $ 2,906,76. $ 2,946,17
Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,428,65 $ 1,604,68!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritie® 134,20: 135,60¢
Financing obligations 34,75¢ 34,17¢
Total Liabilities 1,597,61 1,774,46:
Commitments and contingenci
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partni: 90,79¢ 111,27¢
Equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 authdrshares
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeSt{iquidation
preference $1,000 per share), 29,092 shares issukdutstandin 29,09: 29,09:
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemable PreferreteSifiquidation
preference $25 per share), 2,100,000 shares issubdutstandin 52,50( 52,500
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdishares
70,847,962 and 63,571,705 shares issued and oditsgamespectivel® 70€ 63€
Additional pait-in capital 1,783,64! 1,616,09:
Distributions in excess of net earnir (649,32f) (639,28))
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,327 (4,792)
Total Stockholders' Equity 1,212,29. 1,054,24:
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates 6,06¢ 6,17¢€
Total Equity 1,218,35 1,060,42:
Total Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in ti@perating
Partnership and Equi $ 2,906,76. $ 2,946,17

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents.
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(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Interest expense:
Contractua

Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations

Other income:
Interest and other incon
Gain on debt extinguishment

Income before disposition of property and condominims and equity
in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on fo-sale residential condominiur
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operatio
Gains on disposition of discontinued operations

Net income

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeei the
Operating Partnersh

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteee® consolidated
affiliates
Dividends on preferred stock

Net income available for common stockholders
Earnings per common share - basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fammon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic
Earnings per common share - diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for cooam stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fummon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding - dilute
Dividends declared per common share
Net income available for common stockholders:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fammon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents.

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

4

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ 11331( $ 112,82¢ 227,120 $  224,04:
39,45¢ 40,501 80,352 78,23t
32,931 30,74¢ 65,96( 61,09¢
9,48¢ 10,76¢ 17,801 20,473
81,87¢ 82,01¢ 164,11: 159,80¢
19,94¢ 23,34¢ 40,52« 46,80¢
689 68€ 1,351 1,32¢
71C 764 1,44¢ 1,504
21,34¢ 24,79 43,32( 49,63¢
2,28¢ 1,591 3,291 2,38¢
63C — 63C —
2,91« 1,597 3,921 2,38¢
13,00¢ 7,61¢ 23,611 16,98¢
194 107 213 107
28¢ — 63€ —
1,86z 1,52( 3,162 3,50¢
15,35( 9,241 27,62: 20,60¢
781 1,74 1,63¢ 3,39(
20,94 5,021 21,01¢ 8,75¢%
21,72¢ 6,772 22,65z 12,14:
37,07« 16,01: 50,27« 32,741
(2,054 (839 (2,74¢) (1,732)
(116) (192) (1349 (389
(1,677) (2,83¢) (3,359 (5,676
$ 33,221 12,14¢ 44,03t $ 24,95(
$ 0.1¢ 0.1C 0.3t $ 0.24
0.31 0.11 0.33 0.2C
$ 0.5C 0.21 0.6¢ $ 0.44
66,127 57,45¢ 64,88¢ 57,333
$ 0.1¢ 0.1C 0.3t $ 0.23
0.31 0.11 0I8E 0.2C
$ 0.5C 0.21 0.6¢ $ 0.42
70,234 61,82: 68,97¢ 61,62¢
$ 0.42¢ 0.42¢ 0.85C $ 0.85(
$ 12,767 5,811 22,70¢ $ 13,59¢
20,46( 6,334 21,332 11,35¢
$ 33,22i 12,14¢ 44,03t $ 24,95(
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Balance at
December 31, 200

Issuances of Common
Stock, nel

Conversion of Common
Units to Common
Stock

Dividends on Common
Stock

Dividends on Preferred
Stock

Adjustment to
noncontrolling
interests in the
Operating Partnersh

Distribution to
noncontrolling
interest in consolidated
affiliates

Issuances of restricted
stock, ner

Amortization of
restricted stock and
stock options

Net (income) attributabl
to noncontrolling
interests in the Operating
Partnershif

Net (income) attributable t
noncontrolling
interests in consolidated
affiliates

Comprehensive incom
Net income
Other comprehensive

income

Total comprehensive
income

Balance at
June 30, 200

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

Six Months Ended June 30, 2009

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share amounts)

Non-
Accum- Control-
ulated ling Distri-
Other Interests butions
Number of Additional Compre- in in Excess
Common Common Series A Series B Paid-In hensive Consol-idated of Net
Shares Stock Preferred Preferred Capital Loss Affiliates Earnings Total
63,571,70: $ 636 $ 29,09 $ 52,50 $ 1,616,09: $ 4,799 $ 6,17¢ (639,28) $ 1,060,42:
7,027,221 70 — — 144,19: — — — 144,26«
8,291 — — — 188 — — — 18¢
_ — — — — — — (54,089 (54,087
- - - - - - - (3,359 (3,359
— — — — 19,59¢ — — — 19,59¢
— — — — — — (24%) — (24%)
240,74( — — — — — — — —
— 2 — — 3,571 — — — 3,57¢
— — — — — — — (2,74%) (2,74
— — — — — — 134 (139 —
— — — — — — — 50,27¢ 50,27¢
— — — — — 465 — — 465
50,73¢
70,847,96. $ 708 $ 29,09: $ 52,50 $ 1,783,64! $ (4,32 $ 6,06¢ (649,324 $ 1,218,35'

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents.
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Operating activities:

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskipesl by operating activitie:
Depreciatior
Amortization of lease commissio
Amortization of lease incentive
Amortization of restricted stock and stock optit
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Gain on extinguishment of de
Gains on disposition of properti
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Change in financing obligatior
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fits
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiiebil
Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:

Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists
Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated afiiies
Net repayments of notes receiva
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Changes in restricted cash and other investingities
Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities:

Dividends on Common Stoc
Dividends on Preferred Stor
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the @ating Partnershi
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates
Net proceeds from the sale of Common St
Repurchase of Common Units from noncontrolling ries¢és
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit
Repayments of revolving credit facili
Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay:
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates
Additions to deferred financing costs

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gherio

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#stents.

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited and in thousands)

6

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2009 2008
50,27 $ 32,747
58,71¢ 54,87¢

7,792 7,60¢
54¢ 486
3,57¢ 3,94C
1,351 1,32¢
(147) 126
(630) —
(21,229 (8,860
(63€) —
(3,162) (3,509
584 74
2,081 3,461

& 72 3,282
(1,296 (2,579
(2,252) (4,299
5,351 (5,43¢)
104,63¢ 83,24:
(68,85)) (114,37¢)
61,55¢ 29,45;
5,21t —
2,87¢ 1,49¢
272 1,47¢€
(500) (12,349
(12,020 (22,589
(11,449 (116,879
(54,089 (48,652
(3,359 (5,676
(3,449 (3,356
(245) 471
144,26 6,122
— (3,299
122,00( 242 ,55(
(177,000 (212,35()
53,42¢ 164,99¢
(173,84 (105,167)
— 625
(1,299 (803)
(93,579 34,52¢
(385) 893
13,757 3,14
1337: $ 4,03
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2009 2008

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalizeetiudes cash distributions to owners of sold progs accounted for
as financings of $272 and $800, respectiv $ 4338t $ 50,45¢

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2009 2008
Assets:
Prepaid expenses and other assets $ 19z $ 292
$ 19z % 29z
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiiedil $ 414 $ 142
$ (4149 $ 142
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnerstip and Equity $ 60€ $ 15C

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.

7




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2009
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per shre data)
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdidsted subsidiaries (the "Company"), is a fullyeigrated, self-administered and selnaged equity real est
investment trust ("REIT") that operates in the beastern and midwestern United States. The Compangtucts virtually all of its activities through dgfiwoods Reall
Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partnershig$.of June 30, 2009, the Company and/or the Opey&artnership wholly owned: 307 srrvice office, industrial and ret
properties; 96 rental residential units; 580 acriesndeveloped land suitable for future developmehtvhich 490 acres are considered core holdiagsadditional six offic
and industrial properties under development; antb6sale residential condominiums.

The Company is the sole general partner of the &ipey Partnership. As of June 30, 2009, the Compamyed all of the preferred partnership intereSBrdferre
Units”) and 70.4 million, or 94.6%, of the commoarimership interests (“Common Unitsit) the Operating Partnership. Limited partners|{iding certain officers ar
directors of the Company) own the remaining 4.llianlCommon Units. Generally, the Operating Parthgr is required to redeem each Common Unit areeest of th
holder thereof for cash equal to the value of dree of the Company’s Common Stock, $.01 par véthee“Common Stock”)based on the average of the market price fc
10 trading days immediately preceding the notide @& such redemption, provided that the Comparisaiption may elect to acquire any such Commoitssresented f
redemption for cash or one share of Common Stolek. Gommon Units owned by the Company are not redblEmDuring the six months ended June 30, 20@9Ctimpan
redeemed 8,291 Common Units for a like number afehof Common Stock.

Common Stock Offering

On June 1, 2009, the Company issued in a publierioff approximately 7.0 million shares of Commonc&tfor net proceeds of $144.1 million. As requitadthe
terms of the partnership agreement of the Operatmgnership, the net proceeds from the offeringeve®ntributed to the Operating Partnership in arge for addition:
Common Units. The net impact of the offering anel tedemptions discussed above was to increasestherpage of Common Units owned by the Company 8d4rf% as ¢
December 31, 2008 to 94.6% as of June 30, 2009uBe 1, 2009, we used a portion of the net procektie offering to retire the remaining $107.2lail principal amour
of a secured loan; we incurred no prepayment pesalfhe remaining net proceeds from the offerirgemused to reduce the amount of borrowings owutstgrunder ot
revolving credit facility.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparednformity with accounting principles generadigcepted in the United States of America (“GAARRE more
fully described in Note 10, the Consolidated Staets of Income for the three and six months endee 30, 2008 were revised from previously repoaedunts to reflect
discontinued operations the operations for thoepgities sold during 2008 and the first six morth8009 which qualified for discontinued operatigmesentation.

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted SFAS No. 180ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finamcsaatements — an amendment of ARB No. 51SKAS No
160"), which defines a noncontrolling interest in a coigatked subsidiary as the portion of the equity isulsidiary not attributable, directly or indirggtto the parent ai
requires noncontrolling interests to be presented separate component of equity in the consolidaé¢ance sheet subject to the provisions of EIT#8D“Classification an
Measurement of Redeemable Securities” (“EITF D-98HAS No. 160 also modifies the presentation ofimeame by requiring earnings and other comprehenisizome t
be attributable to controlling and noncontrollimgeirests. SFAS No. 160 requires retroactive treatrioe all periods presented. Below are the stephiawve taken as a resul
the implementation of this standard with respegirgviously reported amounts:
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

¢ We have reclassified the noncontrolling interestxdnsolidated affiliates from the mezzanine sectd our Consolidated Balance Sheet to equity.
reclassification totaled $6.2 million as of Decem8g, 2008

¢ Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestsconsolidated affiliates and the Operating Raghip are no longer deducted when determinin
income. As a result, net income for the three ardnwonths ended June 30, 2008 increased $1.0 milliod $2.1 million from the previously repor
amounts, respectively. The adoption of this stashdhad no effect on our net income available for emn stockholders or our earnings per common s

e As prescribed by EITF @8, we adjusted noncontrolling interests in the 1@fieg Partnership so that the carrying value exjtted greater of historical cost
redemption value and continue to present it inniezzanine section of our Consolidated Balance Sluke to its redemption feature, as previouslyloksd
As a result, noncontrolling interests in the OpaPartnership as of December 31, 2008 increadBdb$nillion from the previously reported amounithng
corresponding decrease to additional paid in chj

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted FASB Staf§itkm EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether InstrumerBranted in SharBased Payment Transactions
Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF 03-6-1"As a result, our weighted average common sharestamating, basic and diluted, for the three and msbnths ende
June 30, 2008 were revised from previously repoai@dunts to include our total number of restriatechmon shares outstanding. For the three monthsdeduhe 30, 20C
weighted average common shares outstanding, basidiuted, are 516,076 and 330,166 shares hidier previously reported, respectively. For the mianths ende
June 30, 2008, weighted average common sharesioditst), basic and diluted, are 504,611 and 3358Hages higher than previously reported, respegtiBdsic earnings p
common share for the three and six months endesl 3N2008 is unchanged from amounts previouslgrted. Diluted earnings per common share for tieetimonths end
June 30, 2008 is unchanged from the amount prelyioeported and, for the six months ended Jun€308, is $0.01 lower than previously reported.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include ther&ing Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries #node subsidiaries in which we own a majority ngtinteres
with the ability to control operations and where substantive participating rights or substantivekkout rights have been granted to the noncomiglinterest holders. #
significant intercompany transactions and accobate been eliminated.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial staeta and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiaairformation, in the opinion of management, eontal
adjustments (including normal recurring accruak}essary for a fair presentation of our financ@gipon, results of operations and cash flows. \@eehomitted certain not
and other information from the interim consolidafethncial statements presented in this Quartegpd®t on Form 1@ as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. 1
consolidated financial statements should be readmjunction with our 2008 Annual Report on FormKLO

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtaccordance with GAAP requires us to make egémand assumptions that affect the amounts ezpartthe
consolidated financial statements and accompanyites. Actual results could differ from those esties.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Income Taxes

We have elected and expect to continue to quatifg EIT under Sections 856 through 860 of thermaleRevenue Code of 1986, as amended. A corpBfLe is ¢
legal entity that holds real estate assets andutfir the payment of dividends to stockholdersgisegally permitted to reduce or avoid the paymérféaeral and state incor
taxes. To maintain qualification as a REIT, we @guired to pay dividends to our stockholders edoat least 90.0% of our annual REIT taxable inepexcluding capit
gains. As a REIT, we will not be subject to fedearat state taxes if we distribute at least 100.@%uo taxable income (ordinary income and capithg, if any) to ot
stockholders. Under temporary IRS regulations, 2009, distributions can be paid partially using BI'Rs freely tradable stock so long as stockholders tthe option ¢
receiving at least 10% of the total distributiorcash.

Noncontrolling Interests

We adopted SFAS No. 160 on January 1, 2009, asribedcpreviously, which establishes accounting @nelsentation standards for noncontrolling interes
subsidiaries.

Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrsh the accompanying Consolidated Financial States relates to the ownership by various indivislaad entitie
other than the Company of Common Units in the OpregaPartnership. Net income attributable to noriling interests in the Operating Partnershipamputed by applyir
the weighted average percentage of Common Unitoowoied by the Company during the period (as a percethe total number of outstanding Common Units)}he
Operating Partnership’'net income for the period after deducting distiitms on Preferred Units. When a noncontrollingthoider redeems a Common Unit for a shat
Common Stock or cash, the noncontrolling intergstee Operating Partnership are reduced and timep@oy’s share in the Operating Partnership is increagehebfair valu
of each redeemed security. The following table &&th noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRearship:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Beginning noncontrolling interests in the Operatfaytnership $ 87,11¢ $ 122,73¢ $ 111,27¢ $ 119,19¢
Adjustments to noncontrolling interests in the Gyielg
Partnershig 3,63¢ 2,261 (19,599 9,88¢
Redemptions/conversions of noncontrolling interest
partnership unit (189) (591) (189) (3,889
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestshe
Operating Partnersh 2,05¢ 83¢ 2,74¢ 1,73z
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the édating
Partnershig (1,726 (1,677) (3,449 (3,356)
Total noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRarship $ 90,79¢ $ 123,57 $ 90,79¢ $ 123,57:

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatedates to our respective joint venture partnBfs0% interest in Highwoods-Markel Associates, L{:@larkel”) anc
estimated 19% economic interest in Plaza Residehti&€ (“Plaza Residential”)Each of our joint venture partners is an unrelatéd party. We consolidate Markel since

are the general partner and effectively controlrttagor operating and financial policies of the jorenture. We consolidate Plaza Residential sine®@wn the majority intere
in and effectively control the joint venture.

10
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB No. 167, “Ameeauiisi to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)” (“FAS 167ijhich requires ongoing assessments to determinée
an entity is a variable entity and requires quiilitaanalysis to determine whether an enterpsisariable interest(s) give it a controlling finéaldnterest in a variable inter:
entity. In addition, FAS 167 requires enhancedldmaes about an enterpriséhvolvement in a variable interest entity. FAS 1§ effective for the fiscal year that begins &
November 15, 2009. We are currently evaluatingniigact FAS 167 may have on our financial positi@sults of operations and disclosul

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

We have equity interests ranging from 12.5% to %0if various joint ventures with unrelated thirdtpes. We account for our unconsolidated joint vees using tr
equity method of accounting. As a result, the asart liabilities of these joint ventures for whigk use the equity method of accounting are ndtidtedd in our Consolidat
Balance Sheets.

The combined, summarized income statements foucwnsolidated joint ventures were as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 3734 $ 41,19¢ $ 76,21¢ $ 79,72¢
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 18,06¢ 20,03: 36,70¢ 38,46:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,85: 9,17 17,72¢ 16,62¢
Interest expense 8,86¢ 9,20~ 17,84 17,69:
Total expenses 35,78¢ 38,407 72,27 72,78¢
Income before disposition of property 1,56: 2,792 3,94¢ 6,94¢
Gains on disposition of property 3,42¢ — 3,42¢ —
Net income $ 498 $ 2792 % 7371 % 6,94
Our share of:
Net incomey) $ 1862 % 152 $ 3,16z $ 3,50¢
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets $ 322:% 339 $ 647 $ 6,33(
Interest expense $ 354:$ 36918 7120 % 7,22
Gain on disposition of depreciable properties $ 781 $ — 3 781 $ —

(1) Our share of net income differs from our weightegrage ownership percentage in the joint ventunes’income due to our purchase accounting and otiate
adjustments

We have a 22.81% interest in a joint venture withv#eiz-Deutschland-USA Dreilander Beteiligung ObjBk F 98/29-Walker Fink{G. In the second quarter of 20
this joint venture sold one property for gross pexts of $14.8 million and recorded a gain of $3ilian. We recorded $0.8 million as our proportioeahare of this ga
through equity in earnings of unconsolidated &ffés in the second quarter of 2009.

11




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Dispositions

In the second quarter of 2009, we sold three came-community retail centers aggregating 413,@@e feet in the Kansas City metropolitan areafoss proceeds
$62.1 million. A gain of $20.9 million was recordedthe second quarter of 2009.

Development

Development in process as of June 30, 2009 codgistmarily of two office properties aggregating82800 rentable square feet and 75 acres of vaaadtundergoir
infrastructure improvements. The aggregate cosfuding leasing commissions, of the two properesrently is expected to be $64.1 million when yuléased ar
completed, of which $58.9 million had been incurasdof June 30, 2009. The dollar weighted averagdepsing of these development properties was apmaely 62% as
June 30, 2009.

Additionally, we currently have three office profles and one industrial property recently completaat not yet stabilized, aggregating 573,000 sgueet. Th
aggregate cost, including leasing commissionshese properties currently is expected to be $80liomwhen fully leased, of whicl$70.3 million had been incurred as
June 30, 2009. The dollar weighted averagelgasing of these properties was approximately 48%fdune 30, 2009. The components of these prepeante included in lan
building and tenant improvements and deferred fiiranand leasing costs in our Consolidated Bal&iwet as of June 30, 2009.

For-Sale Residential Condominiums

We own a majority interest in Plaza ResidentialCl, la joint venture which was formed to develop aelll 139 forsale residential condominiums constructed abo'
office tower developed by us in Raleigh, NC. Bate residential condominiums in our ConsolidatathBce Sheets include our completed, but unsoltj@oinium inventor
as of June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008. Fahtee and six months ended June 30, 2009, we s@dhd 13 condominiums for net sales proceed=2d¥ illion anc
$5.2 million, respectively, and recorded gains 0f3$million and $0.6 million, respectively. For ttimee and six months ended June 30, 2008, there me correspondit
sales or gains. Net sales proceeds include forésitaf earnest money deposits of $0.2 million abd $nillion for the three and six months ended J8®e2009, respective
We record forfeitures of earnest money depositsi@@me when entitled to claim the forfeited depasibn legal default. Our estimate of our partae&tonomic ownersh
which is impacted by a contractually-based promogtdrn, decreased from 25% as of December 31, 2008% as of June 30, 2009.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

As of June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we béatrdd financing costs of $10.7 million and $1iflion, respectively, with related accumulated atization o
$3.9 million and $7.8 million, respectively. As &fine 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had defie@sing costs of $110.1 million and $111.1 millioespectively, wit
related accumulated amortization of $46.8 milliowl $44.8 million, respectively. Aggregate amori@atexpense (included in depreciation and amortinaand amortizatic
of deferred financing costs) for these intangilftasthe three months ended June 30, 2009 and 2@38%4.6 million and $4.5 million, respectively, &fiod the six montt
ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 was $9.1 million &®irillion, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense &br @asthe next five succeeding fiscal years iscdes:

July 1, 2009 through December 31, 2( $ 8,304
2010 $ 13,66(
2011 $ 10,89:
2012 $ 10,22:
2013 $ 6,85¢€
2014 $  4,48¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE

Our consolidated mortgages and notes payable tedsi§the following:

June 30, December 31,

2009 2008
Secured mortgage loans $ 567,29 $ 655,18€
Unsecured loans 861,357 949,49¢
Total $ 1,428,651 $ 1,604,68!

As of June 30, 2009, our secured mortgage loans senured by real estate assets with an aggregdépreciated book value of $908.7 million.

Our $450.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on May 1, 2010. Therederate is LIBOR plus 80 basis points and thauahbase facilit
fee is 20 basis points. The interest rate wouldeiase to LIBOR plus 140 or 155 basis points if aedit rating were to fall below investment gradeading to two of thre
major credit rating agencies. Our revolving créaldility had $338.5 million of availability as ofide 30, 2009 and had $355.5 million of availabitisyof July 31, 2009.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facilityingtially scheduled to mature on December 20, 2@4€suming no defaults have occurred, we have optiorextend tt
maturity date for two successive opear periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 85ida@oints. Our secured construction facility ha8.8 million of availability as «
June 30, 2009 and July 31, 2009.

In January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 imillof 8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings waderevolving credit facility.

In March 2009, we obtained a $20.0 million, thyear unsecured term loan with a bank lender. Ttezést rate is LIBOR plus 250 basis points, subieet minimun
total interest rate of 3.9%.

In June 2009, we retired the remaining $107.2 arillprincipal amount of a secured loan using a portf the net proceeds of our Common Stock offeidn
June 1, 2009. We incurred no prepayment penalties.

Our revolving credit facility, variable rate termans and the indenture that governs the Operatngétships outstanding notes require us to comply with custy
operating covenants and various financial and djperaatios. We and the Operating Partnership aoh eurrently in compliance with all such requirernse

6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the six months ended June 30, 2009, we gdamhder our Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Optam394,044 stock options at an exercise priceleq th
closing market price of a share of our common sttkhe date of grant. The fair value of each apticant is estimated on the date of grant usingBthek-Scholes optio
pricing model, which resulted in a weightaderage grant date fair value per share of $1.80inD the six months ended June 30, 2009, we alaoted 128,384 shares
time-based restricted stock and 99,910 sharegafrieturn-based restricted stock with weighsa®rage grant date fair values per share of $12n83$10.13, respectively. \
recorded stock-based compensation expense of $illidnneach during the three months ended Jun&B09 and 2008, respectively. We recorded stuased compensati
expense of $3.6 million and $3.9 million during ®ig months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respicti&s of June 30, 2009, there was $10.6 millibhotal unrecognize
stock-based compensation costs, which will be neizegl over a weighted average remaining contradéuad of 1.5 years.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, warbow funds at a combination of fixed and varialdées. Borrowings under our revolving credit fagiliconstructio
facility and bank term loans bear interest at \deiaates. Our long-term debt, which consists efised and unsecured lotgrm financings and the issuance of unsecurec
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratkBough some loans bear interest at variable.r@ar interest rate risk management objectivesaalimit the impact of intere
rate changes on earnings and cash flows and ta loweoverall borrowing costs. To achieve thesedijes, from time to time, we enter into intenede hedge contracts st
as collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agresnrentder to mitigate our interest rate risk widlspect to various debt instruments. We do not boldsue these derivati
contracts for trading or speculative purposes. ifiterest rate on all of our variable rate debtéserally adjusted at one or three month intenalbject to settlements un
these interest rate hedge contracts. We also entetreasury lock agreements from time to timeider to limit our exposure to an increase in iesérates with respect
future debt offerings.

In prior periods, we entered into certain interas¢ hedging arrangements which were designatedmnbeing accounted for as cash flow hedges. ffletiee portior
of these arrangements, representing deferred giterpense, was $0.9 million as of June 30, 20@9simcluded in Accumulated Other ComprehensivesLAOCL"). This
deferred expense will be recognized as an additionterest expense in the same periods duringhwinierest expense on the hedged financings affettsicome. We expe
approximately $0.2 million will be recognized adecrease to interest expense within the next 12mson

In January 2008, we entered into two floating-t@dl interest rate swaps for a oyear period with respect to an aggregate of $50l@mof borrowings outstandir
under our revolving credit facility or other floag rate debt. These swaps fixed the underlying LRB@te upon which interest on such borrowings &ebaat 3.26% for $3C
million of borrowings and 3.24% for $20.0 milliofi lmorrowings. These swaps were designated and ateméor as cash flow hedges and matured in Jar2@09.

In April 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixéuterest rate swap for a twear period with respect to an aggregate of $50ldomof borrowings outstanding unc
our term loan or other floating rate debt. The s¥iegs the underlying LIBOR rate upon which intéres such borrowings is based at 2.52%. The copatgr under this sw
is Bank of America, N.A. The swap was designatetiiaeing accounted for as a cash flow hedge effleetive portion of the swap representing defeinterest expense w
$0.8 million as of June 30, 2009 and is includeA®CL. We expect all of the balance to be recoghie an increase to interest expense within thetaexmonths.

In October 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixeterest rate swap for a ogyear period with respect to an aggregate of $25llmof borrowings outstanding unc
our term loan or other floating rate debt. The s¥iegs the underlying LIBOR rate upon which intéres such borrowings is based at 2.35%. The copatgr under this swi
is PNC Bank, N.A. The swap was designated andirgteccounted for as a cash flow hedge. The effegiortion of the swap representing deferred istezgpense was $(
million as of June 30, 2009 and is included in AO@\le expect all of the balance to be recognizeahascrease to interest expense within the nextrfmnths.

14




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) represents menia plus the changes in certain amounts deferret¢umulated other comprehensive income/(loss}emltc
hedging and other activities not reflected in tlm€blidated Statements of Income. The componertdghef comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Net income $ 37,07« $ 16,01¢ $ 50,27 $ 32,74%
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain/(loss) on tax increment financiogds 22¢ 187 19z (374)
Unrealized derivative net gains on c-flow hedges 217 93¢ 414 524
Amortization of past cash flow hedges (70) 46 (141 12€
Total other comprehensive income 372 1,16¢€ 46E 27€
Total comprehensive income $ 37,44¢ $ 17,17¢ $ 50,73¢ $ 33,02¢
9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inpthist we use to measure fair value, as well asafisets, mezzanine noncontrolling interests andlifiab that we
recognize at fair value using those levels of isput

Level 1.Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are comprised of investmemsarketable securities which we use to pay benefitker our deferred compensation plan. Our Levaricantrolling
interests in the Operating Partnership are comgpiaéeCommon Units in the Operating Partnershipavated by the Company. Our Level 1 liabilities aue obligations to pe
certain deferred compensation plan benefits whepabticipants have designated investment optionsngpily mutual funds) to serve as the basis fomsuement of tt
notional value of their accounts.

Level 2.Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssctiudted prices for similar assets or liabilitiggpted prices in markets that are not active; bewoinputs th:
are observable or can be corroborated by obserwadiket data for substantially the full term of tieéated assets or liabilities.

Our Level 2 liabilities are interest rate swaps séair value is determined using a pricing moa@eldal upon observable market inputs.
Level 3.Unobservable inputs that are supported by littta@market activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or liabilities.

Our Level 3 asset is our tax increment financingdssued by a municipal authority in connectiothvaur construction of a public parking facilityathis not routinel
traded but whose fair value is determined usingstimate of projected redemption value based otequuid/ask prices for similar unrated municipahtde. This available for-
sale security is carried at estimated fair valupriepaid and other assets with unrealized gaifssses reported in accumulated other compreheifsige The estimated fi
value as of June 30, 2009 was $2.5 million belosvahtstanding principal due on the bond. We culyentend to hold this bond, which amortizes to oray in 2020, and ¢
not believe that we will be required to sell thnld before recovery. Payment of the principal ardréest for the bond is guaranteed by us and, ftirerewe have recorded
credit losses related to the bond’s impairment. Oewvel 3 liability is our SRHIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation thatnot traded but whose fair value
determined using an estimate of discounted casisfttependent on future leasing assumptions fopitbeerty.

15




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - Continued

The following table sets forth the assets and liiés that we measured at fair value on a recgrhiasis by level within the fair value hierarchy.

Assets:
Marketable securities (in prepaid and other
assets(1)
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expenses
and other asset
Total Assets

Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating
Partnership

Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie

Deferred compensation (in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabiliti
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation

Total Liabilities

(1) The marketable securities are held through ouceffieferred compensation plans.

The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset Aability.

Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balanc
Unrealized gain (in AOCL)
Ending balance

Liability:
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP Financing Obligation
Beginning balanc
Payments on financing obligatic
Interest expense on financing obligation

Ending balance
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in Significant
Balance at Active Markets Other Significant
June 30, for Identical Observable Unobservable
2009 Assets Inputs Inputs
520C $ 520 $ — $ —
17,66( — — 17,66(
22,86( $ 5,20 $ — $ 17,66(
90,79%¢ $ 90,79%¢ $ — 3 —
962 $ — % 96z $ —
5,80¢ 5,80¢ — —
17,172 — — 17,172
23,94: $ 5,80¢ $ 9%z $ 17,17:
Three Months Six Months
Ended Ended

June 30, 2009 June 30, 2009

$  1743¢ $  17.46¢
22€ 192
$ 17,660 $ 17,66
$ 1693 $ 16,60
(162) (272)
40C 84C
$ 17170 $ 1747
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - Continued

The following estimated fair values were determirisd management using available market informatiod appropriate valuation methodologies. Conside
judgment is used to interpret market data and d@vestimated fair values. Accordingly, the estimgteesented herein are not necessarily indicafitheoamounts that v
could realize upon disposition of the financialtinments. The use of different market assumptioniaa estimation methodologies may have a mateffatt on the estimat
fair values. The carrying amounts and estimatedvidues of our financial instruments were as folio

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

June 30, 200¢

Cash and cash equivalel $ 13,37: $ 13,37:
Restricted cas $ 14,707 $ 14,707
Accounts and notes receival $ 21,38 $ 21,38(
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and atbsets $ 5200 $ 5,20(C
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher asset: $ 17,66( $ 17,66(
Mortgages and notes payal $ 142865 $ 1,286,86
Financing obligation $ 34,75¢ $ 32,74¢
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrxeehses and other liabilitie $ 96z $ 962
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, aca@xpenses and other liabilitie $ 5,80¢ $ 5,80¢
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: $ 90,79 $ 90,79¢
December 31, 200:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 13,757 $ 13,751
Restricted cas $ 2,25¢ $ 2,25¢
Accounts and notes receival $ 27,28¢ $ 27,28¢
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and asets $ 5,42 $ 5,42z
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesather asset: $ 17,46¢ $ 17,46¢
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,604,68 $ 1,330,89
Financing obligation $ 34,17: $ 32,21¢
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrxyeehses and other liabilitie $ 1,37¢ $ 1,37¢
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, acexpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,52 $ 6,522
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngr: $ 111,27¢ $ 111,27¢

The fair values of our mortgages and notes payaiefinancing obligations were estimated usingalisted cash flow analyses based on estimated miatest o
similar borrowing arrangements at June 30, 2009eckmber 31, 2008, respectively. The carrying arnt®of our cash and cash equivalents, accountates$ receivab
equal or approximate fair value.

Disclosures about the fair value of financial instents are based on relevant information availebles at June 30, 2009. Although management isaware of an
factors that would have a material effect on thevalue amounts reported herein, such amounts haveeen revalued since that date and curremhats of fair value mi
significantly differ from the amounts presentedeier
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of our business strategy, we from timertetselectively dispose of narore properties and use the net proceeds for imezgs, for repayment of debt anc
retirement of Preferred Stock, or other purposé® fhble below sets forth the net operating resflthose assets classified as discontinued opesatn our Consolidat
Financial Statements. These assets classifiedsasrdinued operations comprise 1.2 million squaeg 6f office and retail properties and 13 rengaidential units sold duril
2008 and the six months ended June 30, 2009. Térmitigns of these assets have been reclassified dto ongoing operations to discontinued operatiansl we will nc

have any significant continuing involvement in thgerations after the disposal transactions:

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008

Rental and other revenues $ 138 $ 369t $ 3535 $ 7,773
Operating expenses

Rental property and other expen 44¢€ 1,331 1,351 3,016

Depreciation and amortization 15¢E 624 550 1,386

Total operating expenses 608 1,961 1,901 4,402

Other income — 8 2 19

Income before gains on disposition of discontinuedperations 781 1,74¢ 1,63€ 3,39C

Gains on disposition of discontinued operations 20,94 5,027 21,01¢ 8,753

Total discontinued operations $21,72¢ $ 6,77 $ 22,65: $ 12,14:

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

As described in Note 1, effective January 1, 2008, adopted FSP EITF 03%6-which required us to retroactively revise ourighted average common she

outstanding, basic and diluted, to include ourltotember of restricted common shares outstanding.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE - Continued

The following table sets forth the computation abiz and diluted earnings per common share:

Earnings per common share - basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnig:
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia
Dividends on preferred stock
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders

Income from discontinued operatic
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrétom discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholders
Net income available for common stockholders
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common shareighted average shargls
Earnings per common share - basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fammon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders
Earnings per common share - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia
Dividends on preferred stock

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders before noncontrolling interestthi

Operating Partnersh
Income from discontinued operations

Net income available for common stockholders befamcontrolling interests in the Operating Parthgrs

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common s-weighted average shar
Add:
Employee and director stock options and warr
Noncontrolling Common Units

Denominator for diluted earnings per common shaadjusted weighted average shares and assumedrsmms$1)

Earnings per common share - diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coam stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fammon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders
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Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,

2009 2008 2009 2008
$ 1535( $ 9,241 $ 27,62: $ 20,60
(790) (407) (1,429 (943
(116) (191) (139 (389)
(1,677) (2,83¢) (3,359 (5,676
12,767 5,811 22,70¢ 13,59¢
21,72¢ 6,772 22,65: 12,14:
(1,269 (439 (1,320 (789)
20,46( 6,33/ 21,33: 11,35¢
$ 33,220 $ 12,148 $ 44,03t $ 24,95(
66,12: 57,45¢ 64,88¢ 57,33i
$ 0.1¢ $ 0.1C $ 03E % 0.24
0.31 0.11 0.32 0.2C
$ 0.5C $ 021 $ 0.6¢ $ 0.44
$ 1535( $ 9,241 $ 27,62: $ 20,60«
(116) (191) (139 (389)
(1,677) (2,83¢) (3,359 (5,676
13,557 6,212 24,13« 14,53¢
21,72¢ 6,772 22,65: 12,14:
$ 35,281 $ 12,98 $ 46,78t $ 26,68
66,12: 57,45¢ 64,88: 57,331
49 42C 30 331
4,062 3,94¢€ 4,068 3,957
70,23¢ 61,82: 68,97¢ 61,62¢
$ 0.1¢ $ 0.1C $ 03 $ 0.2
0.31 0.11 0.3¢ 0.2C
$ 0.5C $ 021 $ 0.6 $ 0.42
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE - Continued

(1) Options and warrants aggregating 1.2 million ar&drfillion shares were outstanding during the thmeaths ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectamdyl.3 and 0
million shares were outstanding during the six rhergnded June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively brg not included in the treasury method calculaf@ndilutec
earnings per common share because the exercigs pfithe options and warrants were higher thamatieeage market price of Common Stock during tipesods.
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the acquisition, develeptnand operation of rental real estate properié¢s.evaluate our business by product type and grg@hic
locations. Each product type has different custeraed economic characteristics as to rental raté$eams, cost per square foot of buildings, theppses for which custom
use the space, the degree of maintenance and erstupport required and customer dependency oeréiff economic drivers, among others. The operatsglts b
geographic grouping are also regularly reviewedoby chief operating decision maker for assessimfppaance and other purposes. There are no maiatetsegmer
transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are theesanthose described in Note 1 included hereinopdirations are within the United States and, akioé 30, 2009, |
tenant of the Wholly Owned Properties comprisedenban 8.7% of our consolidated revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental income aet operating income for each reportable segment:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Rental and Other Revenues() (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 12,20¢ $ 11,73t $ 23,606 $ 23,28t
Greenville, SC 3,601 3,49¢ 7,23¢ 6,76(
Kansas City, MC 3,71: 3,83t 7,45¢ 7,51¢
Memphis, TN 7,40¢ 6,37¢ 14,44: 12,50¢
Nashville, TN 15,637 15,417 31,04: 30,19:
Orlando, FL 2,84t 2,76¢ 5,79¢ 5,17¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 6,56¢ 6,671 13,10¢ 13,29«
Raleigh, NC 18,22« 16,481 36,57 35,02(
Richmond, VA 11,24( 12,83¢ 22,95 24,42t
Tampa, FL 16,59. 17,03( 33,13: 32,85¢
Total Office Segment 97,93 96,65¢ 195,34¢ 191,03
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 3,931 3,81¢ 7,872 7,901
Piedmont Triad, NC 3,301 3,577 7,677 7,28¢
Total Industrial Segment 7,23: 7,392 15,54¢ 15,18¢
Retail:
Kansas City, MC 7,66¢ 8,331 15,28( 16,93
Piedmont Triad, N( 14¢ 144 292 284
Raleigh, NC 30 _ 60 _
Total Retail Segment 7,84t 8,481 15,63: 17,215
Residential
Kansas City, MO 302 29¢ 594 602
Total Residential Segment 302 29c¢ 594 602
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 113,31 $ 112,82¢ $ 227,12. $ 224,04:
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Net Operating Income: @) (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 8,03t$ 7,471% 1501t$ 14,98:
Greenville, SC 2,33¢  2,19¢ 4,62 4,24;
Kansas City, MC 2,26C 2,347 4,50¢ 4,48¢
Memphis, TN 4,04t 3,802 8,06: 7,33(
Nashville, TN 10,31¢ 10,023 20,16( 19,95:
Orlando, FL 1,46C 1,471 3,032 2,89¢
Piedmont Triad, N( 4,38¢  4,31¢ 8,55¢ 8,62¢
Raleigh, NC 12,78: 10,46¢ 25,00¢ 23,32¢
Richmond, VA 8,062 8,47¢ 16,057 16,567
Tampa, FL 9,51¢ 10,30: 19,39« 19,80
Other (@) (36) @) (G
Total Office Segment 63,20¢ 60,84( 124,41. 122,16:
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 2,932 2,851 5,98: 6,02¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 2,44, 2.81: 5,99t 5,741
Total Industrial Segment 5,37¢  5,66¢ 11,97¢ 11,76¢
Retail:
Atlanta, GA@) (6) 9) (12 (14)
Kansas City, MC 5,08t 5,66¢ 9,93¢ 11,457
Piedmont Triad, N( 124 117 234 231
Raleigh, NC 8 (25) 10 (48)
Total Retail Segment 5,211 5751 10,16€  11,62¢
Residential
Kansas City, MC 183 66 35& 26C
Raleigh, NC4) (129) 6 (139 (7
Total Residential Segment 54 72 21E 252
Total Net Operating Income 73,85 72,327 146,77: 145,80t
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proprty and condominiums and equity in earnings of unensolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortizatic (32,937 (30,74¢) (65,96() (61,09¢)
General and administrative expel (9,48¢) (10,76¢) (17,807 (20,47
Interest expens (21,344 (24,79%) (43,32() (49,63¢)
Interest and other income 2,91¢ 1,597 3,921 2,38¢
Income before disposition of property and condomirs and equity in earnings of unconsolidated afét $13,00:$ 7,61¢$ 2361:$% 16,98¢

(1) Net of discontinued operatior
(2) The Piedmont Triad market encompasses the GreemabdrWinsto-Salem metropolitan are
(3) The Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, DurGany,and Research Triangle metropolitan ¢

(4) Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues reprssexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgistg associated with land held for development ithatirrenth
zoned for retail and residential properti
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

13. SUBSEQUENTEVENTS

We have evaluated events subsequent to June 38 a@@lthrough August 4, 2009 (the issuance datiei®fnterim report on Form 1Q) for purposes of these financ
statements and disclosures.

We have a 42.93% interest in a joint venture witkeianderFonds 97/26 and 99/32. Subsequent to June 30, #ti69pint venture classified one property as Heh

sale and, on July 24, 2009, sold this asset fosgproceeds of $7.1 million. The joint venture wétord a $0.5 million impairment loss in the thipdarter of 2009. We w
record $0.2 million as our proportionate shareh@f impairment loss through equity in earnings méansolidated affiliates in the third quarter o020
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited and in thousands, except unit and perRamunts)

Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land
Buildings and tenant improvemer

Development in proces
Land held for development

Less-accumulated depreciation
Net real estate assets

For-sale residential condominiums
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,836 $h@81, respectivel
Notes receivable, net of allowance of $418 and $dé&spectively

Accrued straight-line rents receivable, net ofwhace of $1,903 and $2,082,
respectively

Investment in unconsolidated affiliat

Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $50,752
and $52,586, respective
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnership Unitsand Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritie®
Financing obligations
Total Liabilities
Commitments and Contingenci
Redeemable Operating Partnership Ur
Common Units, 4,058,872 and 4,067,163 outstandagpectively

Series A Preferred Units (liquidation preferenced®0 per unit), 29,092 shares
issued and outstandir

Series B Preferred Units (liquidation preferencg $&r unit), 2,100,000
shares issued and outstand

Total Redeemable Operating Partnership Units
Equity:
Common Units
General partner Common Units, 744,980 and 672,3@dtanding, respective

Limited partner Common Units, 69,694,173 and 62,896 outstanding,
respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive |
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates

Total Equity

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnersbiits and
Equity

June 30, December 31,
2009 2008
$ 349,38t $ 352,87:
2,808,83 2,819,84.
67,56: 61,93¢
99,23: 98,94¢
3,325,01! 3,333,601
(743,75)) (714,229
2,581,26: 2,619,37!
19,66( 24,28¢
1,24¢ 1,242
13,34 13,64¢
14,707 2,25¢
18,05( 23,681
3,33( 3,60z
81,76« 79,97¢
65,40¢ 66,511
70,05¢ 73,21¢
36,65: 37,04¢
$ 2,90547 $ 2,944,85!
$ 1,428,65 $ 1,604,68!
134,20: 135,60¢
34,75¢ 34,17¢
1,597,611 1,774,46!
90,79¢ 111,27¢
29,09: 29,09z
52,50( 52,50(
172,38t 192,87(
11,33t 9,75¢
1,122,40 966,37¢
(4,327) (4,792)
6,06¢ 6,17¢
1,135,48 977,52
$ 2,90547 $ 2,944,85!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#stents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per unit anspunt

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Interest expense:
Contractua

Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations

Other income:
Interest and other incon
Gain on debt extinguishment

Income before disposition of property and condominims and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on fo-sale residential condominiur
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operatic
Gains on disposition of discontinued operations

Net income

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeei consolidated affiliates
Distributions on preferred units

Net income available for common unitholders
Earnings per common unit - basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders
Weighted average common units outstanding - basic
Earnings per common unit - diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fummon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders
Weighted average common units outstanding - diluted
Distributions declared per common unit
Net income available for common unitholders:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008

$ 113,31 $ 112,82t $ 227,120 $ 224,04
39,36 40,501 80,101 78,08t
32,931 30,74¢ 65,96( 61,09¢
9,581 10,76¢ 18,05: 20,62«
81,87¢ 82,01¢ 164,11: 159,80:
19,94¢ 23,34¢ 40,52« 46,80¢
689 68€ 1,351 1,32¢
71C 764 1,44¢ 1,504
21,34¢ 24,79 43,32( 49,63¢
2,28¢ 1,591 3,291 2,38¢
63C — 63C —
2,91« 1,597 3,921 2,38¢
13,00¢ 7,61¢ 23,611 16,991
194 107 213 107
28¢ — 63€ —
1,847 1,50¢ 3,11C 3,481
15,33¢ 9,22¢ 27,57( 20,57¢
781 1,74 1,63¢ 3,39(
20,94 5,021 21,01¢ 8,75¢%
21,72¢ 6,772 22,65z 12,14:
37,05¢ 16,00 50,22 32,72
(11¢) (191) (1349 (389
(1,67%) (2,83¢%) (3,359 (5.676)
$ 35,26¢ $ 12,97: $ 46,73¢ $ 26,651
$ 0.2C $ 0.1C $ 0.3t $ 0.24
0.31 0.11 OI8E 0.2C
$ 051 $ 021 $ 0.6¢ $ 0.44
69,77¢ 60,99% 68,53¢ 60,88t
$ 0.2C $ 0.1C $ 0.3t $ 0.24
0.31 0.11 0.33 0.2C
$ 0.51 $ 021 $ 0.6 $ 0.44
69,82¢ 61,418 68,56¢ 61,21¢
$ 042t $ 042t $ 0.85C $ 0.85(
$ 13,54: $ 6,20C $ 24,08: $ 14,51«
21,72¢ 6,772 22,65: 12,14
$ 35,26¢ $ 1297: $ 46,73¢ $ 26,651
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Balance at December 31, 2008
Issuance of Common Units, r
Distributions on Common Unit
Distributions on Preferred Uni

Amortization of restricted stock and
stock options

Distribution to noncontrolling interest in
consolidated affiliate

Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to
fair value

Net (income) attributable to noncontrollil
interests in consolidated affiliat

Comprehensive incom

Net income
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income
Balance at June 30, 2009

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Common Units

Accumulated

Noncontrolling

Other Interests in
General Limited Comprehensive Consolidated Total
Partner Partner Loss Affiliates Capital
$ 9,75¢ $ 966,37¢ $ (4,792 $ 6,17¢ $ 977,52:
1,44% 142,82: — — 144,26:
(572) (56,606 — — (57,17¢)
(34) (3,320 — — (3,359
36 3,531 — — 3,572
— — — (245) (245)
20z 20,01( — — 20,212
(1) (133) — 134 —
502 49,72( — — 50,22:
— — 465 — 465
50,687
$ 1133 $ 1,12240 $ (4,327 $ 6,065 $  1,13548I

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2009 2008
Operating activities:
Net income $ 50,22: $ 32,72
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskipesl by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 58,71¢ 54,87¢
Amortization of lease commissio 7,792 7,60¢
Amortization of lease incentives 54¢& 486
Amortization of restricted stock and stock optit BISIE 3,94(
Amortization of deferred financing cos 1,351 1,324
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive (141) 126
Gain on debt extinguishme (630) —
Gains on disposition of properti (21,229 (8,860)
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (63€) —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (3,110 (3,487)
Change in financing obligatior 584 74
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &fits 2,05¢ 3,452
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable &, 71LE 3,282
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,269 (2,54¢)
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (2,257) (4,29¢)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiesil 5,35¢ (5,400
Net cash provided by operating activities 104,64¢ 83,30¢
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lgasists (68,85)) (114,379
Proceeds from disposition of real estate as 61,55¢ 29,45;
Proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 5,21t —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated aities 2,87¢ 1,49¢
Net repayments of notes receiva 272 1,47¢
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat (500) (12,347
Changes in restricted cash and other investingities (12,030 (22,589
Net cash used in investing activities (11,459 (116,879
Financing activities:
Distributions on Common Uni (57,179 (51,667)
Distributions on Preferred Uni (3,359 (5,67€)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (24%) 471)
Net proceeds from the sale of Common U 144,26 6,122
Repurchase of Common Units from noncontrolling riests — (3,299
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit 122,00( 242,55(
Repayments of revolving credit facili (177,000 (212,35()
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi 53,42¢ 164,99!
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (173,849 (105,16))
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates — 625
Additions to deferred financing costs (1,562) (1,239
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (93,497 34,44¢
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis: (307) 871
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the grerio 13,64¢ 3,144
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 13,34: $ 4,01F

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana#stents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalizedludes cash distributions to owners of sold prtges accounted for as
financings of $272 and $800 for 2009 and 2008, retsyedy)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Assets:
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiiedil
Redeemable Operating Partnership Units and Equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@a#stents.
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Six Months Ended
June 30,

2009 2008

$ 43,38 $ 50,45¢

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2009 2008
$ 19z $ 292
$ 19z $ 292
$ (4193 142
$ (419 3 142

$ 60€ $ 15C
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2009
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per ui data)
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its cdidsted subsidiaries (the "Company"), is a fullyeigrated, self-administered and selnaged equity real est
investment trust ("REIT") that operates in the beastern and midwestern United States. The Compangtucts virtually all of its activities through dgfiwoods Reall
Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partnershig$.of June 30, 2009, the Company and/or the Opey&artnership wholly owned: 307 srrvice office, industrial and ret
properties; 96 rental residential units; 580 acriesndeveloped land suitable for future developmehtvhich 490 acres are considered core holdiagsadditional six offic
and industrial properties under development; antb6sale residential condominiums.

The Company is the sole general partner of the &ipey Partnership. As of June 30, 2009, the Compamyed all of the preferred partnership intereSBrdferre
Units”) and 70.4 million, or 94.6%, of the commoarmership interests (“Common Unitst) the Operating Partnership. The Company hasit to put any and all of tl
Preferred Units to the Operating Partnership irharge for their liquidation preference plus accrard unpaid distributions in the event of a coroesiing redemption by tl
Company of the underlying Preferred Stock. Limiattners (including certain officers and directofsthe Company) own the remaining 4.1 million Conmmidnits
Generally, the Operating Partnership is requirecetteem each Common Unit at the request of theehalereof for cash equal to the value of one sbathe Company
Common Stock, $.01 par value (the “Common Stockgsed on the average of the market price for thérdding days immediately preceding the notice ddtsuct
redemption, provided that the Company at its optitay elect to acquire any such Common Units preskfdr redemption for cash or one share of CommimekS The
Common Units owned by the Company are not redeem&hlring the six months ended June 30, 2009, trapgany redeemed 8,291 Common Units for a like nurok
shares of Common Stock.

Common Stock Offering

On June 1, 2009, the Company issued in a publierioff approximately 7.0 million shares of Commoncgtfor net proceeds of $144.1 million. As requitadthe
terms of the partnership agreement of the Operatmgnership, the net proceeds from the offeringeve®ntributed to the Operating Partnership in arge for addition:
Common Units. The net impact of the offering anel tedemptions discussed above was to increasestherpage of Common Units owned by the Company 8dr% as ¢
December 31, 2008 to 94.6% as of June 30, 2009uBe 1, 2009, we used a portion of the net procektie offering to retire the remaining $107.2lrail principal amour
of a secured loan; we incurred no prepayment pesalfhe remaining net proceeds from the offerirgemused to reduce the amount of borrowings owutstgrunder ot
revolving credit facility.

Basis of Presentation
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparednformity with accounting principles generadigcepted in the United States of America (“GAARRE more

fully described in Note 10, the Consolidated Staets of Income for the three and six months endee 30, 2008 were revised from previously repoaedunts to reflect
discontinued operations the operations for thospgities sold during 2008 and the first six morth8009 which qualified for discontinued operatigmesentation.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted SFAS No. 180ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finamcsatements — an amendment of ARB No. 51SKAS No
160"), which defines a noncontrolling interest in a coidaibd subsidiary as the portion of the equity isulsidiary not attributable, directly or indirggtto the parent ai
requires noncontrolling interests to be presensed separate component of equity in the ConsolidBtgance Sheet subject to the provisions of EIT#8D Classification an
Measurement of Redeemable Securities” (“EITF D-98HAS No. 160 also modifies the presentation ofimeame by requiring earnings and other comprehenisizome t
be attributable to controlling and noncontrollimjerests. SFAS No. 160 requires retroactive treatifiog all periods presented. Below are the stephiawe taken as a resul
the implementation of this standard with respegrgviously reported amounts:

¢ We have reclassified the noncontrolling interestcdnsolidated affiliates from the mezzanine sectd our Consolidated Balance Sheet to equity.
reclassification totaled $6.2 million as of Decem8g, 2008

¢ Netincome attributable to noncontrolling intereistsonsolidated affiliates are no longer deductén determining net income. As a result, net ineda
the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 sexle®0.2 million and $0.4 million from the previguseported amounts, respectively. The adoptiothiz
standard had no effect on our net income availfasleommon unitholders or our earnings per commuih

Effective January 1, 2009, we adopted FASB Staf§itkm EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether InstrumerBranted in SharBased Payment Transactions
Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF 03-6-1"As a result, our weighted average common sharestamding, basic and diluted, for the three and msbnths ende
June 30, 2008 were revised from previously repoat@dunts to include our total number of restriatechmon units outstanding. For the three months eéeddee 30, 200
weighted average common units outstanding, basit diluted, are 516,076 and 330,166 units highen theeviously reported, respectively. For the sixnthe ende
June 30, 2008, weighted average common units oulistg, basic and diluted, are 504,611 and 335,%i higher than previously reported, respectivBlgsic earnings p
common unit for the three and six months ended 30n2008 is unchanged from amounts previouslyntedoDiluted earnings per common unit for the ¢hneonths ende
June 30, 2008 is unchanged from the amount prelyioeported and, for the six months ended Jun€308, is $0.01 lower than previously reported.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include wholvned subsidiaries and those subsidiaries in kvhie own a majority voting interest with the alyilio contro
operations and where no substantive participatigigts or substantive kick out rights have been @@ro the noncontrolling interest holders. Allrgficant intercompan
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial staeta and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiaairformation, in the opinion of management, eontal
adjustments (including normal recurring accruakjessary for a fair presentation of our financ@sipon, results of operations and cash flows. \&eehomitted certain not
and other information from the interim consolidafethncial statements presented in this Quartegpd®t on Form 1@ as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. 1
consolidated financial statements should be readjunction with our 2008 Annual Report on FormKLO
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtaccordance with GAAP requires us to make eggémand assumptions that affect the amounts ezpartthe
consolidated financial statements and accompanyites. Actual results could differ from those esties.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Income Taxes

The Company has elected and expects to contingaalify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86theflnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendearpocat
REIT is a legal entity that holds real estate asaatl, through the payment of dividends to stoakdrs], is generally permitted to reduce or avoidghgment of federal al
state income taxes at the corporate level. To mamualification as a REIT, the Company is recpliite pay dividends to its stockholders equal teeast 90.0% of its annt
REIT taxable income, excluding capital gains. Ungienporary IRS regulations, for 2009, distributiara be paid partially using a RES§Tfreely tradable stock so long
stockholders have the option of receiving at |ed of the total distribution in cash. The parthg@sagreement requires the Operating Partnershipajoeconomicall
equivalent distributions on outstanding Common &aitthe same time that the Company pays dividendts outstanding Common Stock.

Noncontrolling Interests

We adopted SFAS No. 160 on January 1, 2009, asridedcpreviously, which establishes accounting @nelsentation standards for noncontrolling interes
subsidiaries.

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatedates to our respective joint venture partnBfs0% interest in Highwoods-Markel Associates, L{:@larkel”) anc
estimated 19% economic interest in Plaza Residehti&€ (“Plaza Residential”)Each of our joint venture partners is an unrelatéd party. We consolidate Markel since
are the general partner and effectively controlrttagor operating and financial policies of the jorenture. We consolidate Plaza Residential sine®@wn the majority intere
in and effectively control the joint venture.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB No. 167, “Ameeauntisi to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)” (“FAS 167ijhich requires ongoing assessments to determinée
an entity is a variable entity and requires quiilieaanalysis to determine whether an enterpsisariable interest(s) give it a controlling finéaldnterest in a variable inter:
entity. In addition, FAS 167 requires enhancedld@aes about an enterpriséhvolvement in a variable interest entity. FAS 1§ effective for the fiscal year that begins &
November 15, 2009. We are currently evaluatingnifgact FAS 167 may have on our financial positi@sults of operations and disclosul

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

We have equity interests ranging from 22.8% to ®0if various joint ventures with unrelated thirdtpes. We account for our unconsolidated joint vees using tr
equity method of accounting. As a result, the asar liabilities of these joint ventures for whigk use the equity method of accounting are ndtidtedd in our Consolidat
Balance Sheets.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES - Continued

Our combined, summarized income statements founoonsolidated joint ventures were as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 3597 $ 39,95( $ 73,46¢ $ 77,23
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 17,46¢ 19,44 35,56¢ 37,28¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,391 8,762 16,85! 15,82¢
Interest expense 8,65( 8,97( 17,41: 17,22¢
Total expenses 34,51¢ 37,17¢ 69,83! 70,33
Income before disposition of property 1,45¢ 2,771 3,63¢ 6,891
Gains on disposition of property 3,42¢ — 3,42¢ —
Net income $ 488: % 2771$% 7,05 $ 6,89
Qur share of:
Net incomeg1) $ 1847 $ 15068 $ 3,11( $ 3,481
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets $ 2391% 335:$% 559 $ 6,24¢
Interest expense $ 351t $ 3661 % 7,066 3% 7,161
Gain on disposition of depreciable properties $ 781 $ — $ 781 $ —

(1) Our share of net income differs from our weightegrage ownership percentage in the joint ventunes’income due to our purchase accounting and otiate
adjustments

We have a 22.81% interest in a joint venture withvi#eiz-Deutschland-USA Dreilander Beteiligung ObjBk F 98/29-Walker FinkKG. In the second quarter of 20
this joint venture sold one property for gross pexts of $14.8 million and recorded a gain of $3ilian. We recorded $0.8 million as our proportioeahare of this ga
through equity in earnings of unconsolidated &ffés in the second quarter of 2009.

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Dispositions

In the second quarter of 2009, we sold three came-community retail centers aggregating 413,@@e feet in the Kansas City metropolitan aregfoss proceeds
$62.1 million. A gain of $20.9 million was recordedthe second quarter of 2009.

Development

Development in process as of June 30, 2009 codgistmarily of two office properties aggregating82800 rentable square feet and 75 acres of vaaadtundergoir
infrastructure improvements. The aggregate cosfudiing leasing commissions, of the two propertesrently is expected to be $64.1 million when yultased ar
completed, of which $58.9 million had been incurasdof June 30, 2009. The dollar weighted averagdepsing of these development properties was apmabely 62% as
June 30, 2009.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES - Continued

Additionally, we currently have three office profles and one industrial property recently completaat not yet stabilized, aggregating 573,000 sgdeet. Th
aggregate cost, including leasing commissionshese properties currently is expected to be $8@liomwhen fully leased, of which $70.3 million idbeen incurred as
June 30, 2009. The dollar weighted averagelgasing of these properties was approximately 48%fdune 30, 2009. The components of these prepeante included in lan
building and tenant improvements and deferred fiiranand leasing costs in our Consolidated Bal&iwet as of June 30, 2009.

For-Sale Residential Condominiums

We own a majority interest in Plaza ResidentialCl, la joint venture which was formed to develop aelli 139 forsale residential condominiums constructed abo'
office tower developed by us in Raleigh, NC. Bate residential condominiums in our ConsolidatathBce Sheets include our completed, but unsoftj@minium inventor
as of June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008. Fahtee and six months ended June 30, 2009, we s@dahd 13 condominiums for net sales proceed=2d¥ fillion anc
$5.2 million, respectively, and recorded gains 0f3$million and $0.6 million, respectively. For ttimee and six months ended June 30, 2008, there me correspondit
sales or gains. Net sales proceeds include forésitaf earnest money deposits of $0.2 million abd $nillion for the three and six months ended J8®e2009, respective
We record forfeitures of earnest money depositmesme when entitled to claim the forfeited depesion legal default. Our estimate of our parteetonomic ownersh
which is impacted by a contractually-based promogtdrn, decreased from 25% as of December 31, 2008% as of June 30, 2009.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS

As of June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we béatrdd financing costs of $10.7 million and $1iflion, respectively, with related accumulated atization o
$3.9 million and $7.8 million, respectively. As &fine 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had defieasing costs of $110.1 million and $111.1 millicespectively, wit
related accumulated amortization of $46.8 milliowl $44.8 million, respectively. Aggregate amori@atexpense (included in depreciation and amortinaand amortizatic
of deferred financing costs) for these intangilftasthe three months ended June 30, 2009 and 2@38%4.6 million and $4.5 million, respectively, afiod the six montt
ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 was $9.1 million &®irillion, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense &br @fsthe next five succeeding fiscal years isades:

July 1, 2009 through December 31, 2( $ 8,304

2010 $ 13,66(

2011 $ 10,89

2012 $ 10,22:

2013 $ 6,85¢€

2014 $  4,48¢

5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
Our consolidated mortgages and notes payable tedsi§the following:
June 30, December 31,
2009 2008

Secured mortgage loans $ 567,29t $ 655,18¢
Unsecured loans 861,357 949,49¢
Total $ 1,428,651 $ 1,604,68
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5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE - Continued

As of June 30, 2009, our secured mortgage loans segured by real estate assets with an aggregdépreciated book value of $908.7 million.

Our $450.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagiis scheduled to mature on May 1, 2010. Therederate is LIBOR plus 80 basis points and theuahbase facilit
fee is 20 basis points. The interest rate wouldeiase to LIBOR plus 140 or 155 basis points if aedit rating were to fall below investment gradeading to two of thre
major credit rating agencies. Our revolving créalitlity had $338.5 million of availability as ofide 30, 2009 and had $355.5 million of availabitis/of July 31, 2009.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facilityingtially scheduled to mature on December 20, 2@4€suming no defaults have occurred, we have optiorextend tt
maturity date for two successive opear periods. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 85ida@oints. Our secured construction facility ha8.8 million of availability as «
June 30, 2009 and July 31, 2009.

In January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 imillof 8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings waderevolving credit facility.

In March 2009, we obtained a $20.0 million, thyear unsecured term loan with a bank lender. Ttezést rate is LIBOR plus 250 basis points, subieet minimun
total interest rate of 3.9%.

In June 2009, we retired the remaining $107.2 arillprincipal amount of a secured loan using a portf the net proceeds of our Common Stock offeidn
June 1, 2009. We incurred no prepayment penalties.

Our revolving credit facility, variable rate termans and the indenture that governs our outstantbies require us to comply with customary opegatiavenants at
various financial and operating ratios. We andGbenpany are each currently in compliance with athsrequirements.

6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the six months ended June 30, 2009, the @osgranted under its Amended and Restated 193k Sption Plan 394,044 stock options at an exengife
equal to the closing market price of a share ofammmon stock on the date of grant. The fair valfieach option grant is estimated on the date aftgusing the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, which resulted in eightedaverage grant date fair value per share of $1.80inB the six months ended June 30, 2009, the Coynpbsc
granted 128,384 shares of time-based restrictek stod 99,910 shares of total return-based resttistock with weightedverage grant date fair values per share of $
and $10.13, respectively. The Company recordedkdtased compensation expense of $1.7 million eadngitine three months ended June 30, 2009 and ZB@8Compan
recorded stockased compensation expense of $3.6 million and B8l®n during the six months ended June 30, 2808 2008, respectively. As of June 30, 2009, ther
$10.6 million of total unrecognized stock-based pemsation costs, which will be recognized over ghted average remaining contractual term of 1&rye

35




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, warow funds at a combination of fixed and varialdées. Borrowings under our revolving credit fagiliconstructio
facility and bank term loans bear interest at \@eaates. Our long-term debt, which consists ofised and unsecured lotgrm financings and the issuance of unsecurec
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratkBough some loans bear interest at variable.r@ar interest rate risk management objectivesaalimit the impact of intere
rate changes on earnings and cash flows and ta loweoverall borrowing costs. To achieve thesedijes, from time to time, we enter into intenede hedge contracts st
as collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agresnrentder to mitigate our interest rate risk widlspect to various debt instruments. We do not boldsue these derivati
contracts for trading or speculative purposes. ifterest rate on all of our variable rate debteserally adjusted at one or three month intenalbject to settlements un
these interest rate hedge contracts. We also entetreasury lock agreements from time to timeider to limit our exposure to an increase in iesérates with respect
future debt offerings.

In prior periods, we entered into certain interas¢ hedging arrangements which were designatedrnbeing accounted for as cash flow hedges. ffeetige portior
of these arrangements, representing deferred gtterpense, was $0.9 million as of June 30, 20@9sximcluded in Accumulated Other ComprehensivesLAOCL"). This
deferred expense will be recognized as an additionterest expense in the same periods duringhwinierest expense on the hedged financings affettsicome. We expe
approximately $0.2 million will be recognized adecrease to interest expense within the next 12mson

In January 2008, we entered into two floating-tedl interest rate swaps for a oyear period with respect to an aggregate of $50ldmof borrowings outstandir
under our revolving credit facility or other floagj rate debt. These swaps fixed the underlying LlRB@te upon which interest on such borrowings seHeaat 3.26% for $3C
million of borrowings and 3.24% for $20.0 milliori lmorrowings. These swaps were designated and ateméor as cash flow hedges and matured in Jar2@09.

In April 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixéuterest rate swap for a twear period with respect to an aggregate of $50lilomof borrowings outstanding unc
our term loan or other floating rate debt. The s¥iegs the underlying LIBOR rate upon which intéres such borrowings is based at 2.52%. The copatgr under this swi
is Bank of America, N.A. The swap was designatetiiaeing accounted for as a cash flow hedge effleetive portion of the swap representing defeinterest expense w
$0.8 million as of June 30, 2009 and is includeA®CL. We expect all of the balance to be recoghie an increase to interest expense within thetaexmonths.

In October 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixeterest rate swap for a ogear period with respect to an aggregate of $25llbmof borrowings outstanding unc
our term loan or other floating rate debt. The s¥iegs the underlying LIBOR rate upon which intéres such borrowings is based at 2.35%. The copatgr under this swi
is PNC Bank, N.A. The swap was designated andirggteccounted for as a cash flow hedge. The etffegiortion of the swap representing deferred istezgpense was $(
million as of June 30, 2009 and is included in AO®\e expect all of the balance to be recognizemhascrease to interest expense within the nextrfuanths.
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8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) represents menia plus the changes in certain amounts deferret¢umulated other comprehensive income/(loss}emeltc
hedging and other activities not reflected in tlwnéblidated Statements of Income. The componerithef comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Net income $ 37,05¢ $ 16,00: $ 50,22: $ 32,72
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain/(loss) on tax increment financiogds 22¢ 187 19z (374)
Unrealized derivative net gains on c-flow hedges 217 93¢ 414 524
Amortization of past cash flow hedges (71) 46 (147) 12€
Total other comprehensive income 372 1,16¢ 46E 27€
Total comprehensive income $ 3743. ¢ 17,161 $ 50,68 $ 32,99¢
9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inpthitst we use to measure fair value, as well asafisets, mezzanine noncontrolling interests andlifieb that we
recognize at fair value using those levels of isput

Level 1.Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are comprised of investmemtsarketable securities which we use to pay benefitker our deferred compensation plan. Our Levaricantrolling
interests in the Operating Partnership are comghigé€Common Units in the Operating Partnershipavated by the Company. Our Level 1 liabilities aue obligations to pe
certain deferred compensation plan benefits whepasticipants have designated investment optionsguily mutual funds) to serve as the basis foaswement of tt
notional value of their accounts.

Level 2.Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sscfjusted prices for similar assets or liabilitigspted prices in markets that are not active; beoinputs th:
are observable or can be corroborated by observadiket data for substantially the full term of tieéated assets or liabilities.

Our Level 2 liabilities are interest rate swaps séair value is determined using a pricing moaeldal upon observable market inputs.
Level 3.Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlemmarket activity and that are significant to faie value of the assets or liabilities.

Our Level 3 asset is our tax increment financingdssued by a municipal authority in connectiothvaur construction of a public parking facilityathis not routinel
traded but whose fair value is determined usingstimate of projected redemption value based otequaid/ask prices for similar unrated municipah@ie. This available for-
sale security is carried at estimated fair valupriepaid and other assets with unrealized gaifdesses reported in accumulated other compreheifssge The estimated fi
value as of June 30, 2009 was $2.5 million belogvdhtstanding principal due on the bond. We culyentend to hold this bond, which amortizes to oréy in 2020, and ¢
not believe that we will be required to sell thnld before recovery. Payment of the principal ardréest for the bond is guaranteed by us and, ftirerewe have recorded
credit losses related to the bond’s impairment. Oevel 3 liability is our SAHIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation thatnot traded but whose fair value
determined using an estimate of discounted cas¥sfttependent on future leasing assumptions foprtbeerty.
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - Continued

The following table sets forth the assets and lités that we measured at fair value on a recgrhiasis by level within the fair value hierarchy.

Assets:

Marketable securities (in prepaid and other
assets(1)

Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expenses
and other asset

Total Assets

Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie

Deferred compensation (in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabiliti
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation

Total Liabilities

(1) The marketable securities are held through ouceffieferred compensation pla

The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset Aability.

Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balanc
Unrealized gain (in AOCL)
Ending balance

Liability:
SF-Harborview Plaza, LP Financing Obligation
Beginning balanc
Payments on financing obligatic
Interest expense on financing obligation

Ending balance
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in Significant
Balance at Active Markets Other Significant
June 30, for Identical Observable Unobservable
2009 Assets Inputs Inputs
5,20C $ 5200 $ — $ —
17,66( — — 17,66(
22,86( $ 5200 $ — $ 17,66(
%2 $ — $ 9%z $ —
5,80¢ 5,80¢ — —
17,172 — — 17,17z
23,94: $ 5,80¢ $ 96z $ 17,17:
Three Months Six Months
Ended Ended

June 30, 2009

June 30, 2009

$  1743¢ $  17.46¢
22€ 192
$ 17,660 $ 17,66
$ 1693 $ 16,60
(162) (272)
40C 84C
$ 17170 $ 1747




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - Continued

The following estimated fair values were determirisd management using available market informatiod appropriate valuation methodologies. Conside
judgment is used to interpret market data and d@vestimated fair values. Accordingly, the estirmgteesented herein are not necessarily indicafithkeoamounts that v
could realize upon disposition of the financialtinsents. The use of different market assumptionéa estimation methodologies may have a mateffatt on the estimat
fair values. The carrying amounts and estimatadvigues of our financial instruments were as folo

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

June 30, 2009

Cash and cash equivalel $ 13,37: $ 13,37:
Restricted cas $ 14,707 $ 14,707
Accounts and notes receival $ 21,38( $ 21,38(
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and abeets $ 5200 $ 5,20(C
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesather asset: $ 17,66( $ 17,66(
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,428,665 $ 1,286,86
Financing obligation $ 34,75¢ $ 32,74¢
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrxeehses and other liabilitie $ 96z $ 962
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, acexpenses and other liabilitie $ 5,80¢ $ 5,80¢
December 31, 2008

Cash and cash equivalel $ 13,757 $ 13,757
Restricted cas $ 2,25¢ $ 2,25¢
Accounts and notes receival $ 27,28¢ $ 27,28¢
Marketable securities (in prepaid expenses and atbsets $ 542 $ 5,42
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesather asset: $ 17,46¢ $ 17,46¢
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,604,68 $ 1,330,89
Financing obligation $ 34,17: $ 32,21¢
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrxeehses and other liabilitie $ 1,37¢ $ 1,37¢
Deferred compensation (in accounts payable, acexpenses and other liabilitie $ 6,52: $ 6,522

The fair values of our mortgages and notes payaidefinancing obligations were estimated usingalisted cash flow analyses based on estimated miatest o
similar borrowing arrangements at June 30, 2009Reckmber 31, 2008, respectively. The carrying arntof our cash and cash equivalents, accountates$ receivab
equal or approximate fair value.

Disclosures about the fair value of financial instents are based on relevant information availebles at June 30, 2009. Although management isaware of an
factors that would have a material effect on thevalue amounts reported herein, such amounts haveeen revalued since that date and curremhats of fair value mi
significantly differ from the amounts presentedeier
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As part of our business strategy, we from timeretselectively dispose of narore properties and use the net proceeds for imezgs, for repayment of debt anc
retirement of Preferred Stock, or other purposé® fable below sets forth the net operating reaflthose assets classified as discontinued opesain our Consolidat
Financial Statements. These assets classifiedsasrinued operations comprise 1.2 million squest 6f office and retail properties and 13 rergaidential units sold durii
2008 and the six months ended June 30, 2009. Términs of these assets have been reclassified dtr ongoing operations to discontinued operatiansl we will nc

have any significant continuing involvement in thgerations after the disposal transactions:

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008

Rental and other revenues $ 138 $ 3,69¢ $ 3,53t $ 7,773
Operating expenses:

Rental property and other expen 44¢ 1,337 1,351 3,016

Depreciation and amortization 15E 624 550 1,386

Total operating expenses 602 1,961 1,901 4,402

Other income — 8 2 19

Income before gains on disposition of discontinuedperations 781 1,74¢ 1,63€ 3,39C

Gains on disposition of discontinued operations 20,94: 5,027 21,01¢ 8,753

Total discontinued operations $21,72¢ $ 6,77 $ 22,65: $ 12,14:

11. EARNINGS PERUNIT

As described in Note 1, effective January 1, 2008, adopted FSP EITF 03%-which required us to retroactively revise ourighéed average common ur

outstanding, basic and diluted, to include ourltotember of restricted shares outstanding.
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11. EARNINGS PERUNIT - Continued

The following table sets forth the computation eéie and diluted earnings per common unit:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Earnings per common unit - basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 1533t $ 9,22¢ $ 27,57C % 20,57¢
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia (116) (191) (134) (38¢9)
Distributions on preferred units (1,679 (2,839 (3,359 (5,676
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders 13,54 6,20( 24,08: 14,51«
Income from discontinued operations 21,72¢ 6,77- 22,65: 12,14¢
Net income available for common unitholders 3$ 35,26¢ $ 12,97 $ 46,73¢  $ 26,657
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common unit ighted average unitd) 69,77¢ 60,99: 68,53¢ 60,88¢
Earnings per common unit - basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: $ 0.2 $ 0.1C $ 03¢ $ 0.24
Income from discontinued operations available fummon unitholders 0.31 0.11 0.3 0.2C
Net income available for common unitholders $ 051 $ 021 $ 0.6 $ 0.44
Earnings per common unit - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 15,33 $ 9,22¢ $ 27,57C $ 20,57¢
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia (116) (191) (134) (389)
Distributions on preferred units (1,677) (2,83¢) (3,359 (5,676
Income from continuing operations available for coam unitholders 13,54: 6,20( 24,082 14,51«
Income from discontinued operations 21,72¢ 6,77- 22,65: 12,14¢
Net income available for common unitholders 3$ 35,26 $ 12,97 $ 46,73¢  $ 26,657
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per common -weighted average uni 69,77¢ 60,99: 68,53¢ 60,88¢
Add:
Employee and director stock options and warrants 49 42C 30 331
Denominator for diluted earnings per common unigsljusted weighted average units and assumed cioms(l) 69,82¢ 61,41% 68,56¢ 61,21¢
Earnings per common unit - diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coam unitholders $ 0.2C $ 0.1C $ 03¢ $ 0.24
Income from discontinued operations available fummon unitholders 0.31 0.11 0.32 0.2C
Net income available for common unitholders $ 051 $ 021 $ 0.6 $ 0.44

(1) Options and warrants aggregating 1.2 million ardrfillion units were outstanding during the threentihs ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectivady1s and 0.
million units were outstanding during the six man#nded June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively breg n@ included in the treasury method calculafiondilutec
earnings per common units because the exercisespoicthe options and warrants were higher thamdieeage market price of Common Units during thesseds.
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Our principal business is the acquisition, develeptnand operation of rental real estate properié¢s.evaluate our business by product type and grg@hic
locations. Each product type has different custesraed economic characteristics as to rental rateé$eams, cost per square foot of buildings, thgpses for which custome
use the space, the degree of maintenance and arstupport required and customer dependency oeréliff economic drivers, among others. The operatsglts b
geographic grouping are also regularly reviewedohy chief operating decision maker for assessinfppeance and other purposes. There are no maiatexisegmer

transactions.

The accounting policies of the segments are theesenthose described in Note 1 included hereinopdirations are within the United States and, asioé 30, 2009, |
tenant of the Wholly Owned Properties comprisedentban 8.7% of our consolidated revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental income et operating income for each reportable segment:

Rental and Other Revenuesq) (2) (3)

Office:

Atlanta, GA

Greenville, SC

Kansas City, MC

Memphis, TN

Nashville, TN

Orlando, FL

Piedmont Triad, NC

Raleigh, NC

Richmond, VA

Tampa, FL

Total Office Segment

Industrial:

Atlanta, GA
Piedmont Triad, NC

Total Industrial Segment
Retail:
Kansas City, MC

Piedmont Triad, NC
Raleigh, NC

Total Retail Segment

Residential
Kansas City, MO
Total Residential Segment
Total Rental and Other Revenues

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,

2009 2008 2009 2008
$ 12,20¢ $ 11,73: $ 23,60¢ $ 23,28t
3,601 3,49¢ 7,23¢ 6,76(
3,712 3,83% 7,45¢ 7,51¢
7,40¢ 6,37¢ 14,44 12,50¢
15,63 15,41 31,04 30,19:
2,84t 2,76¢ 5,79% 5,17¢
6,56¢ 6,671 13,10¢ 13,294
18,22« 16,48 36,57« 35,02(
11,24( 12,83¢ 22,95 24,42¢
16,59: 17,03( 33,13¢ 32,85¢
97,93: 96,65¢ 195,34¢ 191,03
3,931 3,81t 7,87z 7,901
3,301 3,571 7,675 7,28¢
7,232 7,392 15,54¢ 15,18¢
7,66¢ 8,331 15,28( 16,93:
14¢ 144 29z 284
30 — 60 —
7,84¢ 8,481 15,63: 17,21,
30z 29¢ 594 602
30z 29¢ 594 602
$ 11331 $ 112,82t $ 227,120 $ 224,04
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12. SEGMENT INFORMATION - Continued

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
Net Operating Income: @) (2) (3)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 8,04t 7,471% 15,04($ 14,997
Greenville, SC 2,342 2,19C 4,631 4,24¢
Kansas City, MC 2,26: 2,347 4,51% 4,49(
Memphis, TN 4,05( 3,802 8,071 7,331
Nashville, TN 10,33: 10,023 20,19« 19,97:
Orlando, FL 1,462z 1,471 3,031 2,90z
Piedmont Triad, N( 4,398 4,31¢ 8,57¢ 8,631
Raleigh, NC 12,80( 10,46¢ 25,05 23,35:
Richmond, VA 8,072  8,47¢ 16,08¢ 16,58¢
Tampa, FL 9,52¢ 10,30: 19,427 19,82¢
Other 2 (36) @ (57)
Total Office Segment 63,28¢ 60,84( 124,62 122,28
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 2,93¢ 2,851 5,99/ 6,031
Piedmont Triad, NC 2,447 2,818 6,00¢ 5,74i
Total Industrial Segment 5,38t 5,66¢ 12,00( 11,77¢
Retail:
Atlanta, GA@) (6) 9) (12 (14)
Kansas City, MC 5,09 5,66¢ 9,952 11,471
Piedmont Triad, N( 124 117 234 231
Raleigh, NC 8 (25) 10 (48)
Total Retail Segment 5,21¢ 5,751 10,18¢ 11,64(
Residential
Kansas City, MC 183 66 35& 26C
Raleigh, NC4) (129) 6 (139 (7
Total Residential Segment 54 72 21E 252
Total Net Operating Income 73,947 72,327 147,02: 145,95¢
Reconciliation to income before disposition of proprty and condominiums and equity in earnings of unensolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortizatic (32,937 (30,74¢) (65,96() (61,09¢)
General and administrative expel (9,587) (10,76¢) (18,057 (20,629
Interest expens (21,344 (24,79%) (43,32() (49,63¢)
Interest and other income 2,91¢ 1,597 3,921 2,38¢

Income before disposition of property and condomims and equity in earnings of unconsolidated afé $13,00:$ 7,61¢% 23,61.$ 16,99!

(1) Net of discontinued operatior
(2) The Piedmont Triad market encompasses the GreemabdrWinsto-Salem metropolitan are
(3) The Raleigh market encompasses the Raleigh, DurBany,and Research Triangle metropolitan &

(4) Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues reprissexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgitg associated with land held for development ithatirrenth
zoned for retail and residential properti
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

We have evaluated events subsequent to June 30,a2@0through August 4, 2009 (the issuance datiei®fnterim report on Form 1Q) for purposes of these finan«
statements and disclosures.

We have a 42.93% interest in a joint venture witkeianderFonds 97/26 and 99/32. Subsequent to June 30, #ti69pint venture classified one property as Heh

sale and, on July 24, 2009, sold this asset fosgpvoceeds of $7.1 million. The joint venture wétord a $0.5 million impairment loss in the thipdarter of 2009. We w
record $0.2 million as our proportionate shareh@f impairment loss through equity in earnings méansolidated affiliates in the third quarter o020
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is a fully integrated, self-administeamd self-managed equity REIT that provides l@asimanagement, development, construction and ath&pmer-
related services for our properties and for thiadtips. The Company conducts virtually all of itdivties through the Operating Partnership anidsisole general partner.
of June 30, 2009, we owned or had an interest &iB8ervice office, industrial and retail propertiescempassing approximately 35.2 million square fesiich includes si
office and industrial development properties thad Imot yet reached 95% stabilized occupancy agtngg831,000 square feet and a 12.5% interestd613000 square fo
office property directly owned by the Company (urd#d in the Company’s Consolidated Financial States) but not included in the Operating Partnetshfonsolidate
Financial Statements), 61 feele residential condominiums and 514 rental resialeunits. We are based in Raleigh, North Camliand our properties and development
are located in Florida, Georgia, lowa, Marylandssf$sippi, Missouri, North Carolina, South Carolifi@nnessee and Virginia. Additional informatioroabus can be foul
on our website atww.highwoods.com Information on our website is not part of thisa@erly Report.

You should read the following discussion and arialirsconjunction with the accompanying Consolidafénancial Statements and related notes contailsegvhere i
this Quarterly Report.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly Reportyntantain forwardeoking statements. Such statements include, itiqpdar, statements about our plans, strate
and prospects under this section and under theirfrge8Business.” You can identify forward-lookingas¢éments by our use of forward-looking terminolegyeh as “may,”
“will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “contime” or other similar words. Although we believe that plans, intentions and expectations reflectedrisuggested by su
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we daassure you that our plans, intentions or expectsiwill be achieved. When considering such fodidaoking statement
you should keep in mind the following importanttfars that could cause our actual results to diffaterially from those contained in any forward-ligkstatement:

e the financial condition of our tenants could deteate;

e We may not be able to lease or release secondaj@mespace quickly or on as favorable terms adealdes;

e We may not be able to lease our newly constructéldibgs as quickly or on as favorable terms aginélly anticipated;

e We may not be able to complete development, ad@prisreinvestment, disposition or joint venturejects as quickly or on as favorable terms as ipatied;

e development activity by our competitors in our &rig markets could result in an excessive supplgfi€e, industrial and retail properties relatiwetenar
demand

e our southeastern and midwestern markets may sugfdines in economic growth;

. difficulties in obtaining additional capital to &fy our future cash needs or increases in intawsts could adversely impact our ability to fungportan
business initiatives and increase our debt secosts;

e We may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaaar obtain capital on favorable terms to fund working capital needs and growth initiatives orepay
or refinance outstanding debt upon maturity;

e« the Company could lose key executive officers.
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This list of risks and uncertainties, however, & mtended to be exhaustive. You should also wewiee other cautionary statements we make in “Bassin-Risk
Factors” set forth in our 2008 Annual Report onrRrdr0-K. Given these uncertainties, you should datg undue reliance on forwalmbking statements. We undertake
obligation to publicly release the results of aeyisions to these forwarddoking statements to reflect any future eventxiocumstances or to reflect the occurrenc
unanticipated events.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results for the three and six months ended Jun2C®B were reclassified from previously reportedants to reflect in discontinued operations therapens for thos
properties sold during 2008 and the first six menth 2009 which qualified for discontinued operatigpresentation and the retroactive adoptions #&f{SSNo. 160 and F<
EITF 03-6-1.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2009 and 2008
Rental and Other Revenues

While we own and operate a number of industriahirand residential properties, our operating itsstepend heavily on successfully leasing andaijrey our offict
properties. Economic growth in the areas in whiehoperate is and will continue to be an importatedninative factor in predicting our future opérgtresults.

The key components affecting our rental and otlkeeemues are average occupancy, rental rates, neslogenents placed in service, acquisitions andadigions
Average occupancy generally increases during tiofiéproving economic growth, as our ability to deaspace outpaces vacancies that occur upon tirateoqes of existin
leases. Average occupancy generally declines dunmngs of slower or negative economic growth, winemv vacancies tend to outpace our ability to legsce. Ass
acquisitions, dispositions and new developmentsealan service directly impact our rental revenaed could impact our average occupancy, depending the occupan
rate of the properties that are acquired, soldargal in service. A further indicator of the predhility of future revenues is the expected leag@rations of our portfolio. As
result, in addition to seeking to increase our ageroccupancy by leasing current vacant space|sgenaust concentrate our leasing efforts on rengwéases on expiril
space. For more information regarding our leasératipns, see “Properties — Lease Expirations”un 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatimere virtually unchanged in the second quart&@000 as compared to the second quarter of 20@8pity due t
higher revenues from the contribution of developtmenoperties placed in service in 2008 and the i months of 2009, the acquisition of the Penrdviauilding ir
Memphis, TN and higher average rental rates, offgeower revenues due to lower occupancy in ounes@roperty portfolio and the sale of an office @mminium in th:
second quarter of 2008.

Operating Expenses

Our expenses primarily consist of rental propertpemses, depreciation and amortization, generalagiministrative expenses and interest expense aRprapert
expenses are expenses associated with our ownensthiipperation of rental properties and includeeesps that vary somewhat proportionately to ocaupévels, such
common area maintenance and utilities, and expehagsio not vary based on occupancy, such as giyogaxes and insurance. Depreciation and amoitizas a noneast
expense associated with the ownership of real ptpp&d generally remains relatively consistentegear, unless we buy, place in service or sebtassince we deprecii
our properties and related building and tenant anpment assets on a straidine basis over a fixed life. General and admiaisfie expenses, net of amounts capital
consist primarily of management and employee ssdand other personnel costs, corporate overhehlbag-term incentive compensation.

Rental property and other expenses were 2.6% lowttie second quarter of 2009 as compared to thensequarter of 2008 primarily due to lower experfsem bette
operational efficiency in our same property poitfi@nd the sale of an office condominium in theosecquarter of 2008, partly offset by higher exgsnsom the contributic
of development properties placed in service in 2808 the first six months of 2009 and the acquisitf the PennMarc building in Memphis, TN.
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Operating margin, defined as rental and other reeeress rental property and other expenses expressa percentage of rental and other revenu@sased to 65.2
in the second quarter of 2009 as compared to 6&hlite second quarter of 2008 as a result of befierational efficiency in our same property pditfo

Depreciation and amortization was 7.1% higher i@ second quarter of 2009 as compared to the segoader of 2008 primarily due to higher depreciatanc
amortization from the contribution of developmendgerties placed in service in 2008 and the fipsthsonths of 2009, the acquisition of the PennMaudding in Memphis
TN and the accelerated depreciation and amortizatigdenant improvements and lease commissionsady terminated leases.

General and administrative expenses were 11.9%rlowihe second quarter of 2009 as compared tedisend quarter of 2008 primarily due to lower exggsnfron
unsuccessful projects and headcount reductiontly pdfset by higher deferred compensation experaesed by an increase in the value of marketalslarisies held throuc
our officer deferred compensation plans and lovegitalization of costs.

Other Income

Other income was $1.3 million higher in the secqodrter of 2009 as compared to the second quar2®a8 primarily due to higher income from an irase in th
value of marketable securities held through ouiceffdeferred compensation plans and gain on thieageishment of $3.2 million principal amount ofrz@n outstandin
bonds.

Interest Expense

Interest expense depends upon the amount of ouowiolgs, the weighted average interest rates ondebt and the amount of interest capitalized orefigomen
projects.

Contractual interest expense is shown net of ansoeaptitalized to development projects. Contradnterest expense was 14.6% lower in the secondeyuafr2009 &
compared to the second quarter of 2008 primarily ulower expense from lower average borrowingsitimg from deleveraging efforts using the proceeds of our saf
common stock in September 2008 and June 2009y mHfsket by lower capitalized interest resultingrfr decreased development in process.

Discontinued Operations

The Company classified income of $21.7 million &d8 million as discontinued operations in the selcguarter of 2009 and the second quarter of 2@3ectively
These amounts relate to 1.2 million square feeiffdfe and retail properties and 13 rental residentialsusld during 2008 and the first six months of 20énd include gail
on the sale of these properties of $20.9 milliod 5.0 million in the second quarter of 2009 arelgacond quarter of 2008, respectively.

Net I ncome Attributable to Noncontrolling | nterests

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests $1.2 million higher in the second quarter @2 as compared to the second quarter of 2008 plyndue to th
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrstshare of gains on the sale of properties dfladsas discontinued operations in the secondtgquaf 2009.

Dividends on Preferred Equity

Dividends on preferred equity were 40.9% lowerhe second quarter of 2009 as compared to the seqoentier of 2008 due to the retirement of $53.8ionil of
preferred equity in September 2008.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 and 2008
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatioere 1.4% higher in the first six months of 2@@%ompared to the first six months of 2008 pritpathiie to highe
revenues from the contribution of development proge placed in service in 2008 and the first sbonths of 2009, the acquisition of the PennMarcding in Memphis, TI
and higher average rental rates, partly offsetdwel revenues due to lower occupancy in our saropepty portfolio and the sale of an office condoimnim in the secor
quarter of 2008.

Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were 2.7% highte first six months of 2009 as compared tofittst six months of 2008 primarily due to highespenses from tt
contribution of development properties placed invise in 2008 and the first six months of 2009, #wjuisition of the PennMarc building in Memphigy,Tand gener.
inflationary increases in same property utilitiees and insurance, partly offset by the salenaffice condominium in the second quarter of 2008.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other reeeress rental property and other expenses expgressa percentage of rental and other revenuelinettto 64.69
in the first six months of 2009 as compared to 8bid the first six months of 2008 as a result aigyal inflationary increases in same propertytigsi taxes and insurance.

Depreciation and amortization was 8.0% higher i first six months of 2009 as compared to the 8istmonths of 2008 primarily due to higher depaéon an
amortization from the contribution of developmendgerties placed in service in 2008 and the fipsthsonths of 2009, the acquisition of the PennMaudding in Memphis
TN and the accelerated depreciation and amortizatidenant improvements and lease commissionsady terminated leases.

General and administrative expenses were 13.1%r lowte first six months of 2009 as compared ®filst six months of 2008 primarily due to lowewpenses froi
unsuccessful projects and headcount reductiontly pefset by higher deferred compensation experaesed by an increase in the value of marketalslrisies held throuc
our officer deferred compensation plans and lovegitalization of costs.

Other Income

Other income was $1.5 million higher in the first months of 2009 as compared to the first six merndf 2008 primarily due to higher income from aoréase in tr
value of marketable securities held through ouiceffdeferred compensation plans and gain on thiegeishment of $3.2 million principal amount ofrtz@n outstandin
bonds.

Interest Expense

Contractual interest expense is shown net of ansoeapitalized to development projects. Contradntatest expense was 13.4% lower in the first sbaths of 2009 ¢
compared to the first six months of 2008 primadlye to lower expense from lower average borrownegsiting from ddeveraging efforts using the proceeds of our saf
common stock in September 2008 and June 2009y mHfsket by lower capitalized interest resultingrfr decreased development in process.

Discontinued Operations

The Company classified income of $22.7 million &itP.1 million as discontinued operations in thetfisix months of 2009 and the first six months 60&
respectively. These amounts relate to 1.2 millignase feet of office and industrial properties 48drental residential units sold during 2008 arelfthst six months of 200
and include net gains on the sale of these praseofi$21.0 million and $8.8 million in the firsksnonths of 2009 and the first six months of 20@&pectively.
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Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling | nterests

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestss $1.0 million higher in the first six months209 as compared to the first six months of 20@@4xily due to th
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrstshare of gains on the sale of properties dfladsas discontinued operations in the secondtgquaf 2009.

Dividends on Preferred Equity

Dividends on preferred equity were 40.9% lowerha first six months of 2009 as compared to the fics months of 2008 due to the retirement of $58RiBion of
preferred equity in September 2008.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview

Our goal is to maintain a conservative and flexibdance sheet. We generally use rents received éustomers to fund our operating expenses, rexucapite
expenditures and distributions. To fund propertguasitions, development activity or building rentigas and repay debt upon maturity, we may sektas®btain new de
and/or issue equity. Our debt generally consistmoftgage debt, unsecured debt securities and Wwimgs under our secured and unsecured credit tiasiliTo genera
additional capital to fund our growth and otheastgic initiatives and to lessen the ownershipsrisipically associated with owning 100.0% of a iy, we may also sell
contribute some of our properties to joint ventures
Statements of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dashis based on operating activities, investingwits and financing activities. The following tabsets forth th
changes in the Company’s cash flows ($ in thougands

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2009 2008 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 104,63¢ $ 83,24 $ 21,39€
Cash (Used In) Investing Activitie (11,449 (116,879 105,43C
Cash (Used In)/Provided by Financing Activities (93,57%) 34,52¢ (128,109
Total Cash Flows $ (385) $ 893 $ (1,278

In calculating cash flow from operating activitietepreciation and amortization, which are magh expenses, are added back to net income. Asuét,rwe hav
historically generated a positive amount of casimfloperating activities. From period to period,icisw from operations depends primarily upon chemimn our net incom
as discussed more fully above under “Results ofr@jmmns,” changes in receivables and payables, and net alslir decreases in our overall portfolio, whicfeetf the
amount of depreciation and amortization expense.

Cash used in or provided by investing activitiesiggally relates to capitalized costs incurred feasing and major building improvements and our isdepn,
development, disposition and joint venture activiburing periods of significant net acquisition &rddevelopment activity, our cash used in suchesting activities wi
generally exceed cash provided by investing a@ivjtwhich typically consists of cash received uf@nsale of properties and distributions of cditan our joint ventures.

Cash used in or provided by financing activitieseyally relates to distributions, incurrence angaganent of debt and sales, repurchases or redempbfoCommo
Stock, Common Units and Preferred Stock. As dismliggeviously, we use a significant amount of cashcto fund distributions. Whether or not we hawereases in tt
outstanding balances of debt during a period depgederally upon the net effect of our acquisitdisposition, development and joint venture activiVe generally use o
revolving credit facility for working capital purges, which means that during any given period,rdeioto minimize interest expense, we will likelgcord significar
repayments and borrowings under our revolving ¢ifedility.

The increase of $21.4 million in cash provided Ipemting activities of the Company in the first sdonths of 2009 compared to the first six month2@d8 wa
primarily the result of the net increase in thergf@in operating assets and liabilities as weltash flows from net income as adjusted for changefepreciation ar
amortization, gain on extinguishment of debt, gainsdisposition of properties and feale residential condominiums, equity in earninsirconsolidated affiliates, a
distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ffés.

The decrease of $105.4 million in cash used instimg activities in the first six months of 2009ngoared to the first six months of 2008 was prinyattile result ¢
lower capital expenditures, higher proceeds froapatitions of buildings and faale residential condominiums, lower contributiemainconsolidated affiliates, change
restricted cash and other investing activities, laigtier distributions of capital from unconsolidhtfiliates, offset by lower repayments in notesaivable.
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The decrease of $128.1 million in cash used inrovided by financing activities in the first six mibis of 2009 compared to the first six months d¥®Was primaril
the result of lower net borrowings from mortgaged aotes payable and our revolving credit facéihd higher distributions resulting from an incresthe number of shar
of Common Stock outstanding from our sales of comstock in September 2008 and June 2009, offséidier proceeds from the sale of common stock, talistribution:
on preferred equity and lower repurchases of comeauiity.

Capitalization

The following table sets forth the Company’s cdjztdion (in thousands, except per share amounts):

June 30, December 31,
2009 2008

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book value $ 1,428,65( $ 1,604,68!
Financing obligation $ 34,75¢ $ 34,174
Preferred Stock, at liquidation val $ 8159 $ 81,592
Common Stock outstandir 70,84¢ 63,572
Noncontrolling interest partnership un 4,05¢ 4,067
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 2237 $ 27.3€
Market value of Common Stock and Common Units $ 1,675,67C $ 1,850,60:
Total market capitalization with debt and obligato $ 3,220,67' $ 3,571,05

Based on our total market capitalization of apprately $3.2 billion as of June 30, 2009 (at theeJ8®, 2009 per share stock price of $22.37 andnaiaguthe
redemption for shares of Common Stock of the apprate 4.1 million Common Units not owned by the Qamy), our mortgages and notes payable represéatdél of ou
total market capitalization.

Mortgages and notes payable as of June 30, 200@avagrised of $567 million of secured indebtedneisis a weighted average interest rate of 5.97%%8&R millior
of unsecured indebtedness with a weighted averstgeest rate of 5.07%. As of June 30, 2009, oustantling mortgages and notes payable and finaradtigations wer
secured by real estate assets with an aggregadprauiated book value of $908.7 million.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soofdends to meet our short-term liquidity requirertee Other sources of funds for shtetm liquidity needs incluc
available working capital and borrowings under existing revolving credit facility and revolving mstruction credit facility (which had $355.5 milficand $28.3 million ¢
availability, respectively, as of July 31, 2009urGshortterm liquidity requirements primarily consist ofeypting expenses, interest and principal amortinatin our deb
distributions and recurring capital expenditures)uding building improvement costs, tenant improeat costs and lease commissions. Building impra&rgmare recurrir
capital costs not related to a specific customenaintain existing buildings. Recurring tenant imygments are the costs required to customize dpatlee specific needs
customers in spaces other than in new developnrejgqgs. We anticipate that our available cash @agh equivalents and cash flows from operatingities, together wit
cash available from borrowings under our credillitées, will be adequate to meet our short-terquidity requirements.

Our longterm liquidity uses generally consist of the retient or refinancing of debt upon maturity (incluglimortgage debt, our revolving and constructiordit
facilities, term loans and other unsecured debt)ding of existing and new building developmentiard infrastructure projects and funding acquissiof buildings an
development land. Excluding recurring capital expiemes for leasing costs and tenant improvements far normal building improvements, our expectatuffe capite
expenditures for started and/or committed new dgraknt projects were approximately $18.5 milliorofidune 30, 2009. Additionally, we may from tinoetime retire sorr
or all of our remaining outstanding Preferred Staeid/or unsecured debt securities through redemgtiopen market repurchases, privately negotiategisitions o
otherwise.
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We expect to meet our liquidity needs through algioation of:

e available cash and cash equivalents;
e positive net cash flows from operating activitié®apayment of distributions and recurring capgapenditures;
e unsecured borrowings under our existing $450 nmilliosecured revolving credit facility or new finargarrangements that we may obtain;

e secured borrowings under existing constructionlifas or new financing arrangements that we matgiob(as of June 30, 2009, we had approximatelg
billion of unencumbered real estate assets at urdigted cost)

e the disposition of non-core assets;
e theissuance by the Operating Partnership of umedalebt securities;
e theissuance of equity securities by the Compamnlytia@ Operating Partnership; and

e the sale or contribution of some of our Wholly Owreroperties, development projects and developtaet to strategic joint ventures to be formed
unrelated investors, which would have the net eéfi€¢generating additional capital through sucte sal contributions

Financing Activity
In January 2009, we paid off at maturity $50.0 imillof 8.125% unsecured notes using borrowings uaderevolving credit facility.

In March 2009, we obtained a $20.0 million, thyear unsecured term loan with a bank lender. Tdas Ibears interest at LIBOR plus 250 basis posubject to
minimum total interest rate of 3.9%.

On June 1, 2009, the Company issued in a publierioff approximately 7.0 million shares of CommoncRtfor net proceeds of $144.1 million. As requitadthe
terms of the partnership agreement of the Operaagnership, the net proceeds from the offeringeve®ntributed to the Operating Partnership in erge for addition:
Common Units. The net impact of the offering anel tedemptions discussed above was to increasestherpage of Common Units owned by the Company 8dr% as ¢
December 31, 2008 to 94.6% as of June 30, 2009uBe 1, 2009, we used a portion of the net procektie offering to retire the remaining $107.2lrail principal amour
of a secured loan; we incurred no prepayment pesalfhe remaining net proceeds from the offerirgemused to reduce the amount of borrowings owtstgrunder ot
revolving credit facility.

During the second quarter of 2009, we repurcha8e?i /illion principal amount of 2017 bonds for aghase price of 79% of par value.

Our existing revolving credit facility is schedulemmature on May 1, 2010. We generally use ouolkéng credit facility for working capital purposesid for the short-
term funding of our development and acquisitionvitgtand, in certain instances, the repaymenttbEodebt upon maturity. Continuing ability to bmar under the revolvir
credit facility allows us to quickly capitalize acretive opportunities at shderm interest rates. If our lenders default undeirtobligations under the revolving credit fagi
or we become unable to borrow additional funds uidle facility for any reason, we could be requitedell additional assets or seek alternativetgauri debt capital, whic
could be more costly and adversely impact our fifercondition. If such alternative capital wereauailable, we would not be able to make new investimand could ha
difficulty repaying other debt.

The interest rate under our revolving credit fagils LIBOR plus 80 basis points and the annuakHasility fee is 20 basis points. The interese nabuld increase
LIBOR plus 140 or 155 basis points if our credtirrg were to fall below investment grade accordimgwo of three credit rating agencies. As of J88g2009, $108.0 millic
of borrowings were outstanding under our revolvinedit facility.
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We have $3.5 million of outstanding letters of éred of June 30, 2009, which reduces the avaitglih our revolving credit facility. As a resuthe unused capacity
our revolving credit facility as of June 30, 2008s:$338.5 million and, as of July 31, 2009, wass#Hillion.

We regularly evaluate the financial condition of flenders that participate in our credit facilitiesng publicly available information, particulaily light of the currer
dislocations in the credit markets. Based on thigew, we currently expect our lenders, which agomfinancial institutions, to perform their olditions under our existil
facilities.

We expect to obtain a new revolving credit facifityor to the maturity of our existing revolvingectit facility on May 1, 2010. Because of the prewake of wider crec
spreads and tighter underwriting standards dubedaécent turbulence and uncertainty in the globaital markets, we expect the size, terms anditons of any such ne
facility to be less favorable to us than our erigtfacility. These forward-looking statements ambjsct to risks and uncertainties. See “—DisclodRegarding Forward-
Looking Statements.”

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility, iaiin bears interest at LIBOR plus 85 basis poirgsnitially scheduled to mature on December 2002@ssuming n
defaults have occurred, we have options to exteadmaturity date for two successive gmar periods. As of June 30, 2009, $41.7 milliorbofrowings were outstandi
under the construction facility.

Subsequent to June 30, 2009, we expect to obtBris.0 million, six and a half-year secured loaat thears interest at 6.875 % and a $47.3 milliemesyear secure
loan that bears interest at 7.5%. While both laemessubject to lender commitments, no assurancebegiven that these transactions will close entéhms described abc
or at all. Assuming close of these transactiontherterms described above, we intend to use agpoofithe proceeds to pay down the balance onexalving credit facility tr
zero and invest the remainder in cash and cashkaquis.

Covenant Compliance

The Operating Partnership currently has $396.8ianilprincipal amount of 2017 bonds outstanding $8@0 million principal amount of 2018 bonds outsliag. The
indenture that governs these outstanding notesresqus to comply with customary operating covesantd various financial ratios, including a requiest that we mainta
unencumbered assets of at least 200% of all oulistaminsecured debt. The trustee or the holdeas lefast 25% in principal amount of either seriebands can accelerate
principal amount of such series upon written notita default that remains uncured after 60 days.

Our existing revolving credit facility and our batédem loans also require us to comply with custgnmgorerating covenants and various financial requéets, includin
a requirement that we maintain a ratio of totabiliies to total asset value of no more than 66%r. purposes of our existing revolving credit figjltotal asset value depel
upon the effective economic capitalization ratéefafieducting capital expenditures) used to detegrttie value of our buildings. Depending upon gainezonomic condition
the lenders have the good faith right to unilatgriicrease the capitalization rate by up to 25dpsints once each calendar year. Any such iner@asapitalization rate
without a corresponding reduction in total lialég, could make it more difficult for us to maimta ratio of total liabilities to total asset valoEno more than 60%, whi
could have an adverse effect on our ability to d®eradditional funds under our existing revolvingdit facility. Upon an event of default, lenderving at least 66.7% of tl
total commitments under our existing revolving érddcility can accelerate all borrowings then adatgling and prohibit us from borrowing any furtleenounts under o
existing revolving credit facility, which could aelksely affect our ability to fund our operations.

We are currently in compliance with all such covesand requirements. Although we expect to rermagompliance with these covenants and ratios tyinche end ¢
2009, depending upon our future operating perfoeaaproperty and financing transactions and ger@@homic conditions, we cannot assure you thatilveontinue to b
in compliance.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have several off balance sheet joint venturegaradantee arrangements. The joint ventures weneefd with unrelated investors to generate additioapital to fun
property acquisitions, repay outstanding debt, fund
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other strategic initiatives and lessen the rislgclly associated with owning 100% of a prope§hen we create a joint venture with a partner, saally contribute cash
wholly owned assets to a newly formed entity in ebhive retain a noncontrolling interest. For finaheceporting purposes, certain assets we sold baea accounted for
financing arrangements.

As discussed in Note 1 to our Consolidated Findrgfatements, we generally account for our investsien less than majority owned joint ventures tipenships ar
limited liability companies under the equity methaidaccounting. As a result, the assets and liasliof these joint ventures are not included in loaiance sheet and
results of operations of these joint ventures atantluded in our income statement, other thaacsty in earnings of unconsolidated affiliatesn&elly, we are not liable f
the debts of our joint ventures, except to the rexté our equity investment, unless we have diyegtiaranteed any of that debt. In most cases, woaour joint ventur
partners are required to agree to customary limétexptions to non-recourse liability in non-recmuloans.

As of June 30, 2009, our unconsolidated joint vesgthad $817.7 million of total assets and $640lkom of total liabilities as reflected in theimfancial statements. .
of June 30, 2009, our weighted average equity éstebased on the total assets of these unconsaliflzint ventures was 37.0%. During the six morghded June 30, 20(
these unconsolidated joint ventures earned $7 #omibf total net income, of which our share, atippropriate purchase accounting and other adjussneas $3.2 million.

As of June 30, 2009, our unconsolidated joint veegthad $604.4 million of outstanding mortgage dabtof this joint venture debt is norecourse to us except (1,
the case of customary exceptions pertaining to soatiers as misuse of funds, environmental congitiand material misrepresentations and (2) thoaeagtees and loa
described in Note 14 to the Consolidated Finargiatements in our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, warbow funds at a combination of fixed and varialdées. Borrowings under our revolving credit fagiliconstructio
facility and bank term loans bear interest at \deiaates. Our long-term debt, which consists efised and unsecured lotgrm financings and the issuance of unsecurec
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratkBough some loans bear interest at variable.r@ar interest rate risk management objectivesaalimit the impact of intere
rate changes on earnings and cash flows and ta loweoverall borrowing costs. To achieve thesedidjes, from time to time, we may enter into ietdrrate hedge contra
such as collars, swaps, caps and treasury loclergnas in order to mitigate our interest rate risth respect to various debt instruments. We dohwitl or issue the
derivative contracts for trading or speculativepgmses. The interest rate on all of our variable dabt is adjusted at one and three month intersalgect to settlements un
these interest rate hedge contracts. We also entetreasury lock agreements from time to timeider to limit our exposure to an increase in iesérates with respect
future debt offerings.

In prior periods, we entered into certain interas¢ hedging arrangements which were designatedmnbeing accounted for as cash flow hedges. ffletiee portior
of these arrangements, representing deferred sttespense, was $0.9 million as of June 30, 20@isuincluded in AOCL. This deferred expense wél iecognized as
addition to interest expense in the same periodmglwhich interest expense on the hedged finarscaffects net income. We expect approximately $0illon will be
recognized as a decrease to interest expense whinimext 12 months.

In January 2008, we entered into two floating-tedl interest rate swaps for a oyear period with respect to an aggregate of $50l@mof borrowings outstandir
under our revolving credit facility or other floagj rate debt. These swaps fix the underlying LIB@f upon which interest on such borrowings is thage3.26% for $30
million of borrowings and 3.24% for $20.0 milliori lmorrowings. These swaps were designated and ateméor as cash flow hedges and matured in Jar2(09.

In April 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixéuterest rate swap for a twear period with respect to an aggregate of $50lilomof borrowings outstanding unc
our term loan or other floating rate debt. The s¥iegs the underlying LIBOR rate upon which intéres such borrowings is based at 2.52%. The copatgr under this swi
is Bank of America, N.A. The swap was designatetiiameing accounted for as a cash flow hedge effleetive portion of the swap representing defeinterest expense w
$0.8 million as of June 30, 2009 and is
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included in AOCL. We expect all of the balance &orbcognized as an increase to interest expenbkalie next ten months.

In October 2008, we entered into a floating-to-fixeterest rate swap for a ogyear period with respect to an aggregate of $25llmof borrowings outstanding unc
our term loan or other floating rate debt. The s¥iegs the underlying LIBOR rate upon which intéres such borrowings is based at 2.35%. The copatgr under this sw
is PNC Bank, N.A. The swap was designated andirggbeccounted for as a cash flow hedge. The effegiortion of the swap representing deferred istezgpense was $(
million as of June 30, 2009 and is included in AO®\e expect all of the balance to be recognizeshaiscrease to interest expense within the nextrfuanths.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

There were no changes made by management to tloalcaiccounting policies in the six months endede]30, 2009, except as set forth in Note 1 toQbesolidate
Financial Statements under “Basis of Presentatibor’a description of our critical accounting esttes, see “ManagemesitDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operations - Critical Accountingitates” in our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

The Company believes that FFO and FFO per shareareficial to management and investors and areritapt indicators of the performance of any eq&R&IT.
Because FFO and FFO per share calculations exslucie factors as depreciation and amortization aif estate assets and gains or losses from salgsechting real este
assets (which can vary among owners of identice¢tasin similar conditions based on historical cstounting and useful life estimates), they featd#i comparisons
operating performance between periods and betwirem REITs. Management believes that historicat aosounting for real estate assets in accordaitbeGAAP implicitly
assumes that the value of real estate assets dimemipredictably over time. Since real estate sahave historically risen or fallen with market ddgions, many industi
investors and analysts have considered the prementd operating results for real estate compatties use historical cost accounting to be insigfit by themselves. As
result, management believes that the use of FFGF&QIper share, together with the required GAAR@ntations, provide a more complete understandinigeorCompanye
performance relative to its competitors and a nife@med and appropriate basis on which to makésaets involving operating, financing and investefivities.

FFO and FFO per share are MBAAP financial measures and therefore do not regmteset income or net income per share as defigg@dAAP. Net income and r
income per share as defined by GAAP are the mdevaet measures in determining the Compangperating performance because FFO and FFO pee $melude
adjustments that investors may deem subjectivéy ascadding back expenses such as depreciatioaraorization. Furthermore, FFO per share does epictthe amoul
that accrues directly to the stockholdeognefit. Accordingly, FFO and FFO per share shawdder be considered as alternatives to net incameebincome per share
indicators of the Company'’s operating performance.

FFO as defined by the National Association of Resthte Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) is calculatedifallows:

e Netincome (loss) computed in accordance with GA

e Lessdividends to holders of Preferred Stock assl éxcess of Preferred Stock redemption cost areying value;
e Less netincome attributable to noncontrolling iegts;

e Plus depreciation and amortization of assets umyjcgignificant to the real estate industry;

e Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriciaperating properties (but excluding impairmesgses) and excluding items that are classifie
extraordinary items under GAA
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e Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated pesties and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigtions on the same basis); and

e Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and &mation and gains/(losses) on sales, relatedseoditinued operations.

In calculating FFO, the Company adds back net irecaittributable to noncontrolling interests in thpe@ating Partnership, which the Company believeissister
with standard industry practice for REITs that @perthrough an UPREIT structure. The Company betig¢kiat it is important to present FFO on ac@sverted basis since
of the Common Units not owned by the Company adeemable on a one-for-one basis for shares ofditsron Stock.

Other REITs may not define FFO in accordance withdurrent NAREIT definition or may interpret therent NAREIT definition differently than we do.

The Company’s FFO and FFO per share are summarizbe following table ($ in thousands, except glesire amounts):

Funds from operations:
Net income
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in the Operating Partners
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli
interests in consolidated affiliat
Dividends on preferred stock
Net income available for common stockhold
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate
assets
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties
Noncontrolling interest in the Operating
Partnershig
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real
estate asse
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties
Discontinued operation

Depreciation and amortization of real
estate asse
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties
Funds from operations

Weighted average shares outstandin() (2)

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2009 2008

2009

2008

Per Per
Amount Share  _Amount Share

Per
Amount Share

Per
Amount Share

$ 37,07« $ 16,01 $ 50,27 $ 32,74
(2,054) (839) (2,74%) (1,739
(116) (191) (134) (389
(1,677) (2,839) (3,359 (5,676)
33,227 $0.5C 12,14 $ 0.21 44,03¢ $ 0.66  24,95( $ 0.43
32,44C 0.46 30,30 049 6502 0.94 60,09 0.98
(70) — (18 — (89 — (18 —
2,064 — 83 — 2,748 —  173% —
3223 005 3,39 005 647 009 633 0.10
(781) (0.01) —  — (781 (0.00) - —
155  — 624 0.01 55 0.01 1,38¢ 0.02

(20,949 (0.30) (5,027 (0.08) (21,016 (0.30)

(8,759 (0.19)

$49,305 $ 0.7C $ 42,267 $ 0.6€ $ 96,94¢ $1.41 $ 85,72 $ 1.3¢

70,234 61,827

68,97¢

(1) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallyttieiCommon Stock equivalen:
(2) Weighted average shares outstanding as of Jur#088,have been revised from previously reporteduentsato include our total number of restricted skan accordan

with FSP EITF 0-6-1.

56

61,62¢




Table of Contents

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AB OUT MARKET RISK

For information about our market risk as of Decenfifg 2008, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disares About Market Riskih our 2008 Annual Report on Fo
10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

SEC rules require us to maintain disclosure cositaold procedures that are designed to ensurenfbainiation required to be disclosed in our annual periodic repor
filed with the SEC is recorded, processed, sumradremd reported within the time periods specifiedhie SEC’s rules and forms. As defined in Rule-18¢) under tt
Exchange Act, disclosure controls and procedurefidie, without limitation, controls and procedudessigned to ensure that information required taliselosed by us
accumulated and communicated to management, imgutie Company’s CEO and CFO, to allow timely decis regarding required disclosure. The CompaiGEO an
CFO believe that our disclosure controls and procesiwere effective at the end of the period cavésethis Quarterly Report.

SEC rules also require us to establish and maiim&émnal control over financial reporting desigrtedprovide reasonable assurance regarding thebiiity of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyeagtcepting accounting principles. As defined mdR13a15(f) under th
Exchange Act, internal control over financial refray includes those policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in measle detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of assets;

e provide reasonable assurance that transactionseameded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accordance with generally aoog
accounting principles, and that receipts and exjperes are being made only in accordance with aithtions of management and directors;

e provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, aselisposition of our assets that could have aerateffect ol
the consolidated financial statemel

There were no changes in our internal control dwemcial reporting during the first six months 2009 that materially affected, or are reasonalblglyi to materiall
affect, our internal control over financial repadi
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
During the second quarter of 2009, the Companyeidsin aggregate of 8,291 shares of Common Stob&lters of Common Units in the Operating Partngrsigior

the redemption of a like number of Common Unitpiivate offerings exempt from the registration riegments pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Each of th
holders of Common Units was an accredited invastoler Rule 501 of the Securities Act. The resaleuch shares was registered by the Company unel&dturities Act.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

On May 13, 2009, we held our annual meeting ofldtottlers. The final vote of the matters presentedhfvote at such meeting was as follows:

Abstain/
Matter For Against Withheld
(1) Election of Directors
Gene H. Anderso 56,498,37 920,56: —
David J. Hartzel 56,730,19 688,73 —
L. Glenn Orr, Jr 56,502,28 916,65¢ —
(2) Ratify appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our
independent registered public accounting firm fo02 57,297,24 83,41: 38,27¢
(3) Proposed 2009 Lor-Term Equity Incentive Pla 45,730,67 6,202,86: 54,37«

As a result of the election of directors at thewmimeeting, our board of directors now consisttheffollowing persons:

Director Term Expiring
Thomas W. Adle 2011
Gene H. Anderso 2010
Edward J. Fritscl 2010
David J. Hartzel 2010
Lawrence S. Kapla 2010
Sherry A. Kellet 2010
L. Glenn Orr, Jr 2010
O. Temple Sloan, J 2011

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description
311 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saels-Oxley Act
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saels-Oxley Act
31.3 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saels-Oxley Act
31.4 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saels-Oxley Act
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saels-Oxley Act
32.3 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saels-Oxley Act
32.4 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saels-Oxley Act
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, each of the registrants has dalysed this report to be signed on its behalf lyuthdersigne
thereunto duly authorized.

HIGHWOODSPROPERTIESINC.

By: /s TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

HIGHWOODSREALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIF
By: Highwoods Properties, Inc., its sole generatrex

By: /s TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: August 4, 2009
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Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary to nth&estatemen
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with regpebe perioccovered by this quarterly repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,ctiner financial information included in this qteaty report, fairly present in all material resfgethe financie
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis quarterly repor

The Registrans other certifying officers and | are responsililedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (as defined in Exchange Act |
13¢-15(e) and 15-15(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

@

(b)

(©

(d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and proceduré® tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrangluming its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kméavus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring
the period in which this quarterly report is beprgpared

designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahagorting to be designed under our supervisiomrovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityiraniial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordance
generally accepted accounting principl

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusions about the effectagnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tftegeriod covered by this report based on sweluation; anc

disclosed in this report any change in the Regisganternal control over financial reporting tratcurred during the Registrastnost recent fiscal quar
that has materially affected, or is reasonablyljike materially affect, the Registré s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and Maalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafionternal control over financial reporting, to tRegistrant
auditors and the Audit Committee of Regist’s Board of Directors (or persons performing theiegjant functions)

@)

(b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controkiofinancial reporting which are reasonably likéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzancial information; an

any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdmtn the Registrarg’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: August 4, 2009

/sITERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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Exhibit 31.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary to nth&estatemen
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with respetbe period covered by this quarterly rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ctiner financial information included in this qtealy report, fairly present in all material restgethe financie
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis quarterly repor

The Registrans other certifying officers and | are responsiliedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defined in Exchange Act |
13&15(e) and 15-15(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmoovus by others within those entities, partidylauring
the period in which this quarterly report is beprgpared

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomrovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirgintial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordanch
generally accepted accounting principl

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registedisclosure controls and procedures and preseémtéis report our conclusions about the effectagnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the éttegeriod covered by this report based on swefuation; anc

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the Registramtost recent fiscal quar
that has materially affected, or is reasonablyljike materially affect, the Registré s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and Mbalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafionternal control over financial reporting, to tiegistrant
auditors and the Audit Committee of Regist’s Board of Directors (or persons performing theheajant functions)

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknssgethe design or operation of internal controkofinancial reporting which are reasonably likéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdain the Registrard’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: August 4, 2009

/s EDWARD J.FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer of the GehBeatner
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Exhibit 31.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary to nth&estatemen
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with respetbe period covered by this quarterly rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ctiner financial information included in this qtealy report, fairly present in all material restgethe financie
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis quarterly repor

The Registrans other certifying officers and | are responsiliedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defined in Exchange Act |
13&15(e) and 15-15(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmoovus by others within those entities, partidylauring
the period in which this quarterly report is beprgpared

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomrovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirgintial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordanch
generally accepted accounting principl

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registedisclosure controls and procedures and preseémtéis report our conclusions about the effectagnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the éttegeriod covered by this report based on swefuation; anc

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the Regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the Registramtost recent fiscal quar
that has materially affected, or is reasonablyljike materially affect, the Registré s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and Mbalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafionternal control over financial reporting, to tiegistrant
auditors and the Audit Committee of Regist’s Board of Directors (or persons performing theheajant functions)

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknssgethe design or operation of internal controkofinancial reporting which are reasonably likéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdain the Registrard’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: August 4, 2009

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe General Partn:
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsd@roperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form QQer the period ended June 30, 2009 as filed WighSecurities ar
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R&pdrtEdward J. Fritsch, President and Chief Execu@fficer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18\C. § 1350, ¢
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp?2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of the Company.

/sl EDWARD J.FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Offic
August 4, 200¢
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsd@roperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form QQer the period ended June 30, 2009 as filed WighSecurities ar
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pdriTerry L. Stevens, Senior Vice President and Chieancial Officer of the Company, certify, purstido 18 U.S.C.
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarb@rkey- Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of the Company.

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
August 4, 200¢
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Exhibit 32.:
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsddealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Parthg”) on Form 10Q for the period ended June 30, 200
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorie date hereof (the “ReportT),Edward J. Fritsch, President and Chief Execuf¥icer of Highwoods Properties, In
general partner of the Operating Partnership,fgegursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted puatgoe§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,:that

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of the Operatingrieaship.

/sl EDWARD J.FRITSCH
Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the GehBeatner
August 4, 200¢
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Exhibit 32.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsddealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Parthg”) on Form 10Q for the period ended June 30, 200
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiarttee date hereof (the “Reportl), Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vice President and €Rieancial Officer of Highwooc
Properties, Inc., general partner of the Operd@agnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1280adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-@xiegf 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of the Operatingrieaship.

/sI TERRY L. STEVENS
Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe General Partn:
August 4, 200¢
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagscontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary to nth&estatemen
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with regpebe period covered by this quarterly rep

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,ctiner financial information included in this qteaty report, fairly present in all material resfgethe financie
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefRegistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéhis quarterly repor

The Registrans other certifying officers and | are responsililedstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (as defined in Exchange Act |
13¢-15(e) and 15-15(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

@

(b)

(©

(d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and proceduré® tdesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the Registrangluming its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kméavus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring
the period in which this quarterly report is beprgpared

designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahagorting to be designed under our supervisiomrovide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityiraniial reporting and the preparation of finanatdtements for external purposes in accordance
generally accepted accounting principl

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusions about the effectagnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tftegeriod covered by this report based on sweluation; anc

disclosed in this report any change in the Regisganternal control over financial reporting tratcurred during the Registrastnost recent fiscal quar
that has materially affected, or is reasonablyljike materially affect, the Registré s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and Maalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafionternal control over financial reporting, to tRegistrant
auditors and the Audit Committee of Regist’s Board of Directors (or persons performing theiegjant functions)

@)

(b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controkiofinancial reporting which are reasonably likéd
adversely affect the Registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzancial information; an

any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significdmtn the Registrarg’internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: August 4, 2009

/st EDWARD J.FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Offic
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